EXPLORING THE POST-COVID LIVED EXPERIENCES OF PARENTS OF MIDDLE SCHOOL CHILDREN WHO CONTINUED LEARNING IN ONLINE MODALITY: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY

by

Gladys Ode Williams

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2024

EXPLORING THE POST-COVID LIVED EXPERIENCES OF PARENTS OF MIDDLE SCHOOL CHILDREN WHO CONTINUED LEARNING IN ONLINE MODALITY: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY

by Gladys Ode Williams

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA
2024

APPROVED BY:

Heather L. Strafaccia, EdD, Committee Chair Jerry L. Woodbridge, PhD, Committee Member

Abstract

This study employed a hermeneutic phenomenology approach to explore the lived experiences of working parents of school children who transitioned to and continued online learning during and post-pandemic. Twelve parents were selected using criterion and snowball sampling methods, with Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory guiding the study framework. Existing literature highlighted challenges faced by parents and schools during the pandemic, such as balancing work and children's education, connectivity issues, and dissatisfaction with school support and communication. Analysis of interview data revealed that despite ongoing concerns, parents successfully adapted to managing work and online education responsibilities. They reported satisfaction with their children's academic progress, citing support from schools and extended family, and organized social activities for their remote learners. The findings underscored Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory, particularly the impact of family and school environments on child development within the micro and meso systems. Implications of the study suggest opportunities for parents, teachers, administrators, and districts to build upon successes and address areas needing improvement. Future research should expand on these findings by including more diverse samples in terms of race, economic status, and geographic location, and explore the perspectives of students and teachers, addressing current study limitations.

Keywords: COVID-19 pandemic, online learning, parental engagement, parental involvement

Copyright Page

Copyright 2024, Gladys Ode Williams

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to God, my creator, from whom all good things flow! Your Grace carried me through this arduous process. Thank you, Lord, for anointing me with greatness and making me a pacesetter! I am in awe of You, and Your praise will continually be on my lips! I declare that I am YOURS forever!

I dedicate this dissertation to my late father, Ode B. Ikoro. A man of exceptional intelligence and brilliance who wanted to obtain a doctoral degree but could not because of illness. Papa, this is for you! I know you are so proud of your baby girl!

To my amazing and stupendous husband, Dr. Gbenga Williams, who never got tired of helping me with the kids and house chores, and for his unwavering support even when it got tough. Honey, what would I have done without you? You're the BEST!

To my loving siblings, Gloria, Rosemary, Alex, Eddy, and Samuel, and my sister, Chichi for all the love, support, and encouragement! You guys ROCK!

I dedicate this dissertation to the memory of my awesome mother, Felicia Ikoro, and brother, Paul, who unwaveringly believed in my potential to achieve anything I set out to do. Your teachings and encouragement during your time on earth mean everything to me. I am eternally grateful!

To my awesome children, Gabriel, Gavin, and Giona, may you pursue knowledge throughout your lives, knowing that with God, nothing is impossible! Go forth and achieve great things! Mommy loves each of you so much!

To every mother, woman, and girl who desires to obtain a doctoral degree but sees impediments to that goal, let me encourage you, you can do it! Go get yours!

Acknowledgments

To my amazing chair, Dr. Strafaccia, who provided guidance and encouraged me throughout this dissertation process. You constantly reminded me that I could achieve my doctoral goal when it got tough and assured me of your commitment to ensuring that I complete this process successfully. Thank you so much! I am grateful!

To my committee member, Dr. Woodbridge, who provided recommendations on recruiting participants for my study and other aspects of my study. Thank you!

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Copyright Page	4
Dedication	5
Acknowledgments	6
List of Tables	14
List of Abbreviations	15
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	16
Overview	16
Background	16
Historical Context	17
Social Context	20
Theoretical Context	21
Problem Statement	22
Purpose Statement	23
Significance of the Study	23
Research Questions	26
Central Research Question	26
Sub-Question One	26
Sub-Question Two	26
Sub-Question Three	26
Sub-Ouestion Four	27

Definitions	27
Summary	27
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	29
Overview	29
Theoretical Framework	29
Related Literature	31
Screen Time	33
Socioeconomic & Financial Factors	34
Media Illiteracy Among Parents	35
Health Concerns	36
Parental Stress	39
Age of Children and Parent Type	41
Work and Home Life Balance	42
Psychological Vulnerability	43
Struggle with Learning Tools	44
Internet Connection	45
Motivational Issues	47
Parents Inability to Act as Teachers	53
Parents' Dissatisfaction with Teachers and School Leaders	56
Summary	61
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	63
Overview	63

Research Design
Research Questions
Central Research Question65
Sub-Question One65
Sub-Question Two65
Sub-Question Three66
Sub-Question Four66
Setting and Participants66
Setting66
Participants 67
Recruitment Plan68
Researcher Positionality69
Interpretive Framework69
Philosophical Assumptions70
Procedures
Data Collection Plan
Individual Interviews75
Focus Group77
Document Analysis
Trustworthiness
Credibility84
Transferability84

Dependability	85
Confirmability	85
Ethical Considerations	86
Permissions	86
Other Participant Protections	87
Summary	87
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	89
Overview	89
Participants	89
Amy	89
Joe	90
Dina	90
Olivia	90
Charlie	90
Erika	91
Jane	91
Lily	91
Mia	91
Ella	92
Pat	92
Leah	92
Dagulta	02

Adaptation	94
Psychological Adaptation	95
Physical Adaptation	95
Lingering Challenges	95
Parental Obligation	96
Supervision	96
Child Well-being	96
Academic Achievement	97
Concern for Academic Progress	97
Parental Satisfaction	98
Communication	98
Mode of Communication	99
Communication Approach	99
School Support	100
Family Support	100
Central Research Question	101
Sub-Question One	101
Sub-Question Two	102
Sub-Question Three	102
Sub-Question Four	103
Summary	103
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	105

Overview	105
Discussion	105
Summary of Thematic Findings	105
Interpretation of Findings	106
Parental Role Expectations and Adjustment	106
Importance of School Support	108
Appreciation of Familial Support.	109
Implications for Policy and Practice	109
Implications for Policy	110
Implications for Practice	111
Empirical and Theoretical Implications	112
Empirical Implications	112
Theoretical Implications	114
Limitations and Delimitations	114
Limitations	115
Delimitations	116
Recommendations for Future Research	116
Conclusion	117
References	118
Appendix A	150
Appendix B	151
Appendix C	154

Appendix D	155
Appendix E	156
Appendix F	158
Appendix G	159

List of Tables

Table 1. Statistics of Time Spent with Children During the Pandemic Based on Gender	54
Table 2. Individual Interview Questions.	76
Table 3. Focus Group Interview Questions	78
Table 4. Document Analysis Form	80
Table 5. Participants	93
Table 6. Themes and Subthemes	94

List of Abbreviations

Academic Communities of Engagement (ACE)

Cardiovascular Disease (CVD)

National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH)

Parental Efficacy-Scale (PES)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

Parents have been instrumental in children's educational success (Goodall & Montgomery, 2014; Desforges & Abachar, 2003; Sylva et al., 2003). However, many studies revealed the multi-faceted challenges that parents experienced while their children continued education in online classrooms during the COVID-19 pandemic (Ashbury et al., 2020; Bond, 2020; Bubb & Jones, 2020). Chapter One provided a framework for my research study exploring the lived post-COVID-19 experiences of working parents of school children in middle school who continued learning in online modalities after the COVID-19 pandemic. This chapter began by presenting background information on the challenges that COVID-19 posed to working parents of school-aged children. The study's problem, purpose, and significance were presented following the background. Finally, a list of key terms and a summary concluded the chapter.

Background

The COVID-19 pandemic brought several unanticipated challenges to education worldwide, resulting in online instruction for students (Francom et al., 2021; Garbe et al., 2020; Huck & Zhang, 2021). Teachers, students, and parents all experienced challenges such as technology and internet access issues, lack of support from school leaders, and children with disabilities falling behind academically the most (Bond, 2020; Yazcavir & Gargur, 2021). Surprisingly, about 75% of students had lesser engagement levels with remote learning than inclass learning, only 31% of teachers believed online learning was helpful to students, and teachers reported that only approximately 61% of their students would move to the next grade level (Goodrich & Namkung, 2020). School leaders also expressed displeasure with the issues

they encountered with not having all the resources they needed to fully meet the needs of students and staff (Hamilton et al., 2020). Although some leaders did prepare for the sudden transition to virtual learning by communicating with teachers and students constantly and providing laptops to them (Hayes et al., 2020). However, many studies found that the preparation made by school administrators was woefully insufficient in meeting the learning needs of all learners (Yazcavir & Gargur, 2021), including the learning needs of school children with special needs (Burketts & Reynolds, 2020; Hamilton et al., 2020; Pramling et al., 2020; Schafer, 2021; Smith et al., 2020; Yazcavir & Gagur, 2021). Consequently, parents were dissatisfied with the level of help they received from their children's schools (Bond, 2020; Yazcavir & Gagur, 2021) while struggling with the inability to act as paraprofessionals or co-teachers as expected by the student's school (Sampson et al., 2022). Furthermore, as COVID-19 progressed, parents experienced challenges with the increased screen time use of children and the resulting consequences of health and psychological issues among others (Armstrong, 2022; Carroll et al., 2020; Larivière-Bastien et al., 2022; Negata et al., 2020; Pandya & Lodha, 2021; Trabelsi et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2021). Overall, parents played an essential role in student success while overcoming escalating challenges during COVID-19.

Historical Context

Before the advent of the COVID-19 pandemic, K-12 schools in America and most parts of the world provided education to students in physical classrooms (Garcia & Weiss, 2020), and parents were viewed as essential partners in children's academic achievement (Desforges & Abachar, 2003; Goodall & Montgomery, 2014; Sylva et al., 2003). Students spent most of their time at school and were taught by teachers who catered to their academic needs and provided

moral guidance. Students gained social and interpersonal skills through peer interaction (Bond, 2020; Huck & Zhang, 2021). The school environment also provided students with health, psychological, and meal services, which was especially helpful for students from economically disadvantaged backgrounds (World Bank, 2021). Furthermore, students with special needs had access to support staff in physical classrooms (Schafer et al., 2021), and school leaders were responsible for creating an equitable learning environment for students (DeMathews et al., 2020).

However, the learning environment changed as the sudden onset of the global health pandemic forced schools to move classes online (Huck & Zhang, 2021; Lee et al., 2020; Reimers, 2020). The transition to emergency remote teaching (ERT) created many issues, including technology (Huck & Zhang, 2021; Misirli & Ergulec, 2021). Although schools in America have enjoyed incorporating technology into physical classrooms, and it has been used during emergencies like natural disasters, teaching with full-scale technology online was novel (Hinson et al., 2007; Huck & Zhang, 2021; Rush et al., 2014). The nature of the pivot seemingly left many schools unprepared to manage the challenges of teaching students online. As a result, teachers reported concerns about students' learning engagement and technology efficacy in online teaching (Cardullo et al., 2021; Franco et al., 2021; Hamilton et al., 2020). This concern for their technological competence was not a new problem, as this deficiency had historically been an issue in teacher training programs (Foulger et al., 2017). Although some studies reported that many teachers knew how to use technology and have taught online, they still did not feel prepared for 100% online teaching (Huck & Zhang, 2021; Trust & Whalen, 2020).

Furthermore, parents whose involvement in children's education had contributed to their academic achievement and built a stronger bond with the children's schools (Gestwicki, 2007; Rymanowicz & Schulz, 2021; Sapungan & Sapungan, 2014) reported struggles with children taking classes virtually as they had not experienced spending the amount of time the new challenge presented (Lee et al., 2020; Reimers, 2020). As a result, parents were expected to help teachers keep children focused during class even though their attention was often divided between more than one child and other engagements, an experience different from before the COVID-19 pandemic (Ribeiro et al., 2021). Parents engaged actively in activities such as monitoring, teaching, assistance in the use of technology, rendering emotional support, and financial commitment to ensure the adequate performance of students during distance learning (Sonnenschein et al., 2021) and even though parents had always performed most of these duties, the burden became significant during COVID-19 pandemic (Andrew et al., Brom et al., 2022; Villadsen, 2020).

Parents who had school children with special needs or disabilities also expressed displeasure with the lack of support from the children's schools (Asbury et al., 2020; Schafer et al., 2021; Yazcavir & Gurgur, 2021). More so, principals who usually had clear directives from their districts before the pandemic expressed dissatisfaction with demands from school officials even though the difficulties that online learning posed had been researched before the pandemic occurred (Archambault & Larson, 2015; McAlister & Graham, 2016; Moore-Adams et al., 2016; Orit et al., 2021). While schools attempted to develop adequate distance learning opportunities for students, overall well-being may have been overlooked.

Social Context

The social aspects of the parental role in education have been fundamental to children's academic, social, and overall well-being (Chen, 2022; Ilmanto et al., 2020). Parents value their involvement and engagement in their children's education and desire to see positive benefits (Rymanowicz & Schulz, 2021; Sapungan & Sapungan, 2014), and these benefits require the help and partnership of schools addressing concerns that parents have, such as lack of time (Chen, 2020). However, the COVID-19 challenges prevented schools from offering the support parents desired from their children's schools (Yazcavir & Gurgur, 2021). Parents expressed displeasure with the social isolation, inappropriateness of online learning, especially for children with special needs, the poor inactivity of students, and the increased time children were spending online (Misirli & Ergulec, 2021). Also, parents reported an inability to understand and effectively assist their children with schoolwork (Novianti & Garcia, 2020; Sari & Manningtyas, 2020; Slovacek & Cosic, 2020) and did not have the social support they desired for their children (Misirli & Frgulec, 2021) and themselves (Hafidz et al., 2020).

Despite the challenges, parents still took on supervisory and mentoring roles (Apriyanti, 2021; Garbe et al., 2020; Hafidz et al., 2020; Novianti & Garcia, 2020). Also, they were expected to motivate their children and provide a loving and conducive environment to aid their academic growth (Ilmanto et al., 2020). It is therefore necessary to understand the post-COVID-19 experiences of parents who allowed their children to continue learning online, considering the social role and involvement that parents play in their children's education and the challenges they experienced.

Theoretical Context

Theories of parental experience or involvement in their children's education revealed parents' essential roles in the academic success of school children, among other factors. The academic communities of engagement (ACE) framework posits that a student's cognitive, affective, and emotional engagement is first affected by the course environment, which is comprised of the school administrator, counselor, teachers, and peers. Second, it involves the student's community, including their parents, siblings, and friends (Borup et al., 2020). The ACE 2020 framework focused on these communities in both online and blended school environments, an expansive view of Borup's (2014) adolescent communities of engagement, which focused only on online communities of engagement. A study that explored the effect of these communities on student engagement revealed that students are more engaged in in-person learning as there are more opportunities for interaction with people in their learning environment; however, these communities of engagement can be beneficial in online learning settings and should be encouraged and implemented (Spring, 2018).

Similarly, Urie Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory (1979) posits that a child's development is complex and shaped by the interaction of relationships in five different environments. However, the microsystem, which is the first environment, is viewed as the most influential level of connection in a developing child's life as it involves the immediate settings where the child identifies, such as family or home, neighborhood, peers, and the school where the child attends (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). The application of Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory (1979) can potentially enhance students' educational outcomes and academic performance, which can be achieved through the concerted efforts of teachers and school

administrators to establish an optimal learning environment and foster collaboration with parents (Taylor & Gebre, 2016). Moreover, it is essential to acknowledge the influence of external factors such as peers, extracurricular activities, and the community in which the child resides on their academic success. Additionally, the pivotal role of parents in nurturing a positive relationship between students and educators should not be underestimated (Hoover & Sandler, 1997; Taylor & Gebre, 2016). Thus, this study examined the experiences of parents whose children continued learning in an online learning modality guided by ecological systems theory (Brofenbrenner, 1979), which provides additional expansion of the theoretical concepts building on the theory's current foundation.

Problem Statement

The problem is that parents of middle school children in remote learning environments struggle to balance work and education needs. Several research studies have shown that the sudden transition to online learning during the pandemic led to more parental engagement in their children's education but exposed many challenges that parents experienced (Agaton & Cueto, 2021). Those challenges included availability issues, capacity to manage work and homeschooling roles, educational level as demonstrated in their ability to understand children's lessons, and parents' technical knowledge of e-learning gadgets (Daniela et al., 2021). Parents also had challenges with poor internet connectivity and struggled to control their children's addiction to the internet after classes, leading to worry for their children's health and social well-being (Demir & Demir, 2021). Further, the drive for student autonomy created a lack of learning motivation as social interactions were depleted and parents struggled to balance family, business, and school priorities (Zacolletti et al., 2020; Camacho et al., 2021). Such social-emotional

development was a challenge as financial obligations continued for parents while managing multiple roles in their child's or children's education (Lessy et al., 2021). Despite the struggles, some parents have chosen to continue the online learning environment for their children. Thus, this study aimed to fill the gap in research that examines parental decisions to remain in a distance learning program post-COVID-19.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to understand the post-COVID-19 online learning modality experiences for parents of middle school children in an urban area in the Southeastern United States. For this research, post-COVID-19 online learning modality experiences are generally defined as experiences that parents have with their children learning synchronously or asynchronously using technology tools such as laptops, phones, and the internet to enable teaching and learning (Huck & Zhang, 2021; Orit et al., 2021; Zhu & Liu, 2020). The theory guiding this study was Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological systems theory as it provided the framework for exploring the experiences of parents who allowed their children to continue learning online despite the concerns and challenges met during the initial online modality development.

Significance of the Study

This research study is significant in that current studies have not yet explored the lived post-COVID-19 experiences of parents whose children continued with remote learning after the pandemic (Huck & Zhang, 2021). However, many studies conducted during the pandemic exposed the many challenges parents, students, teachers, and schools experienced (Huck & Zhang, 2021). This section explores the study's theoretical, empirical, and practical significance.

Theoretical

This study is theoretically significant in that there are studies that have explored the importance and benefits of collaboration between the school and home environment in the academic success of a child through the lens of the academic communities of engagement framework (ACE) (Borup et al., 2014; Borup et al., 2020). While the ACE framework shows the importance of the relationship between parents and teachers in meeting students' affective, cognitive, and behavioral leads (Borup et al., 2014; Borup et al., 2020), it failed to address other factors like the effect that the economic condition of parents, and other familial relationships can have on parental engagement and involvement in children's education. My study explored the experiences of working parents in supporting student's academic success through the lens of the different systems and factors within Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1979).

Empirical

Parents played a more prominent role in educating their children by acting as co-teachers even though they lacked the expertise in that capacity (Ilmanto et al., 2020; Sari & Manningtyas, 2020). Parents also faced the challenges of social isolation that their children experienced, the poor inactivity of children, concerns over the amount of time that children were spending online (Misirli &Ergulec, 2021), and the risks of health and psychological problems (Armstrong, 2022; Carroll et al., 2020; Larivière-Bastien et al., 2022; Negata et al., 2020; Pandya & Lodha, 2021; Trabelsi et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2021). Even further, parents had trouble understanding their children's homework requirements and, as a result, failed to provide the necessary help (Novianti & Garcia, 2020; Sari & Manningtyas, 2020; Slovacek & Cosic, 2020). More so, parents

experienced the burden of managing their economic needs (Lessy et al., 2021), work, and supervising their children, especially for parents that had more than one child learning remotely (Novianti & Garcia, 2020; Slovacek & Cosic, 2020) among other myriad challenges. This study revealed how working parents respond to remote learning children's educational needs, how they experience school support for remote learning, and how parents integrate familial support systems for remote learning children's educational needs in the post-COVID-19 era.

Practical

Practically, this study may expose deficiencies in parental engagement in their children's education and the effectiveness of the relationship between the home and school in improving student engagement in the post-COVID-19 era. The findings from this study can significantly affect decision-making for parents who may still be considering moving their children to virtual school. The results could help schools offering post-pandemic remote education to learn and improve on providing better remote learning experiences for parents and students, especially if the challenges that those parents had during the pandemic have been resolved or addressed by both parents and their children's school. Furthermore, findings from this study could enlighten school leaders and education policymakers on the challenges that persist for parents of online school children after the pandemic and some of the barriers that might be preventing working parents from fully engaging in their children's online education. The insights gleaned from this study could lead to better understanding, communication, and more support for working parents to help them better drive their children's engagement and academic achievement in online learning.

Research Questions

One central research question and four sub-questions guided this study. The questions focused on the experiences of working parents of middle school children in an online learning environment. The first and second sub-questions focused on parents' response to their children's academic and social needs in a remote learning environment, and the third and fourth sub-questions sought to know the support that working parents receive from their children's school and family members in a remote learning environment. The sub-questions for this study were guided by Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological systems theory as the theoretical framework for this study.

Central Research Question

What are the experiences of working parents of middle school children in remote learning environments?

Sub-Question One

How do working parents respond to children's educational needs when learning remotely?

Sub-Question Two

How do working parents experience school support for children's educational needs when learning remotely?

Sub-Question Three

How do working parents meet the social needs of their children in a remote learning environment?

Sub-Question Four

How do working parents integrate familial support systems for remote learning children's educational needs?

Definitions

- 1. COVID-19 A new coronavirus that was discovered in 2019 (Porkrel & Chhetri 2021).
- Online learning Learning synchronously or asynchronously using technology tools such
 as laptops, phones, and the internet to enable teaching and learning (Orit et al., 2021; Zhu
 & Liu, 2020).
- 3. *Pandemic* A large-scale outbreak of a communicable disease (Porkhrel &Chhetri, 2021).
- 4. *Parental engagement* The participation of parents in their children's educational experiences (Smith, 2022).
- Parental involvement The participation of parents in school-related activities that impact the academic and social-emotional well-being of their children (Park & Holloway, 2018).

Summary

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to understand the post-COVID-19 online learning modality experiences for parents of middle school children in an urban area in the Southeastern United States. This chapter guided the study's background information on the challenges that parents, students, and schools experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Also, I discussed the historical, social, and theoretical aspects of this study, as well as the study's significance. Following the significance, I presented the problem and purpose statements that led

to the presentation of the research questions that guide this study as developed using Bronfennbrenner's (1979) ecological systems theory. Finally, a presentation of the study's terms was provided to guide the reader through this study, focusing on the lived experiences of parents of middle school children who chose to continue online learning post-COVID-19.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

A systematic literature review was conducted to explore the post-COVID-19 online learning modality experiences for parents of middle school children in an urban area in the Southeastern United States, who continued their education online after the pandemic. This chapter presented a review of the current literature related to the topic of study. The ecological systems theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1979) guiding this study was discussed in the first section, followed by a synthesis of recent literature on the COVID-19 experiences of parents of online school children. Also, the different themes that emerged in the pandemic literature surrounding online education experiences for parents and their children were addressed. Ultimately, a gap in the literature was identified, presenting a viable need for the current study.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework in qualitative research informs the study. It also provides a lens through which the questions about the problem under study are developed in addition to data collection on the study, analyzing the data, and interpreting the result (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The theory that informs this study is Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological systems theory. In 1979, Urie Bronfenbrenner developed the ecological systems theory. The theory focuses on the effect of social interaction on a child's development and the belief that everything in a person's surrounding environment influences the development of the individual. This theory posits that a child's development is complex and shaped by the interaction of relationships in different settings such as family, school, economic, political, cultural values, social, laws, and customs (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). The immediate and more significant environments influence a child's

development, and these environments are classified into five systems: the microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, and chronosystem. The microsystem is viewed as the most critical level of relationship in a developing child's life as it involves the immediate settings with which the child identifies, such as family or home, neighborhood, peers, and the school the child attends (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). During COVID-19, the different factors within the microsystem were disrupted, causing parents to experience challenges they had not experienced before the pandemic (Huck & Zhang, 2021). Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic disrupted children's interaction in the microsystems because they could not socialize with their peers as before the pandemic (Huck & Zhang, 2021). Unfortunately, children continuing in online education after in-class learning resumed could face similar challenges.

The mesosystems involve the processes that interact in the various microsystems where an individual exists (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). To understand human development, a person must comprehend how the activities in one microsystem, such as the family, can affect an individual's interaction in another microsystem, such as a school. The exosystem includes structures that influence the development of an individual through interactions with other individuals in that system, even though the individual is not directly in that system (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). The macrosystem involves the interaction among and between the diverse micro, meso, and exosystem.

Bronfenbrenner (1979) captures the macrosystem, which is further influenced by the meso and exosystems as the expectations or roadmap that society has for a particular culture or subculture in which the structure of a family in a mesosystem could be influenced by the culture that a family imbibes and exhibits. Consequently, the norms, beliefs, and values significantly

affect a society's religion, culture, and socioeconomic system, which in turn influences how individuals view the future (Ettekal & Mahoney, 2017). Bronfenbrenner (1979) later added that the chronosystem describes the effect of time and events experienced by individuals on their development as environmental changes occur in the individual's life. Consequently, the interaction of the four processes of human development, such as person, process, time, and context, influences human development and needs to be understood (Ettekal & Mahoney, 2017).

This research is focused on the micro and meso systems, as they directly influence a child's development. The microsystem is the most influential in that an individual's psychological and behavioral changes directly result from this system (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). Interactions within the microsystems can affect an individual separately and cumulatively (Crawford, 2020), as evident in the experiences of students, parents, and schools during the pandemic, guiding the significance of this study. Also, in the mesosystem system, a person's various microsystems interact and exert influence over one another rather than operating independently. A mesosystem is essentially a system of microsystems and can positively foster and strengthen the relationships within the microsystem if properly channeled (Guy-Evans, 2023).

Related Literature

The sudden emergence of the global health pandemic in early 2020 presented many challenges for education (Bond, 2020; Bubb & Jones, 2020; Misirli & Ergulec, 2021; Trust & Whalen, 2021; Yazcavir & Gurgur, 2021; Zuo et al., 2021). As a result of the pandemic, schools transitioned to online learning, causing many technological, social, and emotional challenges for students, teachers, school leaders, and parents (Demir & Demir, 2021; Ilmanto et al., 2020; Lessy

et al., 2021; Sari & Manningtyas, 2020). Before the pandemic, school officials and families had never experienced the nature of such a disruption and did not have significant research to guide them (Harris & Jones, 2020).

Furthermore, schools pivoted to online learning quickly, so there was no time to properly prepare for the sudden change (Means et al., 2021). As a result, many teachers expressed dissatisfaction with their preparedness for teaching students online (Trust & Whalen, 2020), confusion over which pandemic school policies to follow, and the support they received from the leaders (Hodges et al., 2020; Huck & Zhang, 2021). Similarly, parents experienced many challenges. They struggled with supporting their children's learning online as they had other competing priorities (Bubb & Jones, 2020), a lack of cooperation between them and their children's teachers or school, and concerns for the health and mental well-being of their children (Ashbury et al., 2020) due to the increased screen time requirements for children to learn in an online environment (Armstrong, 2022; Carroll et al., 2020; Larivière-Bastien et al., 2022; Negata et al., 2020; Pandya & Lodha, 2021; Trabelsi et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2021).

This literature review presents findings on studies conducted on education during the pandemic and the gaps that necessitated this study. This review also describes the challenges presented by the pandemic and among parents of school children. Some of the themes from the studies include screen time use, health concerns, internet and technology access issues, parental stress, lack of motivation and student engagement, and parents struggle with balancing work and parental duties, among other concerns.

Screen Time

Screen usage was a significant concern for parents during the pandemic (Armstrong, 2022; Misirli & Ergulec, 2021; Nagata et al., 2020). Marking a sudden shift in the daily routine of a global audience, families and academic institutions adopted remote learning infrastructures to ensure continued education despite associated difficulties (Gelir & Duzen, 2022; Smith et al., 2020). Embracing remote learning and prolonged school closures extended children's two-hour recommended screen time (American Academy of Pediatrics, n.d.). Since students were exposed to technology throughout a class, it increased children's overall use of digital technology and screen time (Carroll et al., 2020; Nagata et al., 2020; Pandya & Lodha, 2021), and it became increasingly difficult for parents to refocus children's attention. In particular, during the pandemic, playing video games among children increased by 51%, and smartphone usage increased by 42% (Armstrong et al., 2022). The increase in children's screen use during this period was due to having additional free time outside of traditional school hours (Carroll et al., 2020). More findings revealed that 87% of parents reported children's frequent use of screens, causing some parents to consider scheduling screen times to reduce it. However, others believed their child had to connect more via increased screen access (Carroll et al., 2020).

The rationale for allowing children to connect more was due to the physical separation the pandemic created when schools moved entirely online; children needed to communicate with friends (Larivière-Bastien et al., 2022), and the overall mental benefits of connecting via screens (Seguin et al., 2021). Interestingly, the development of social competence in childhood and adolescence is directly related to good-quality friendships and relationships (Larivière-Bastien et al., 2022). However, it is essential to note that although parents were concerned about excessive

screen time, this was also a concern parents had even before the pandemic (Auxier et al., 2020). Before the pandemic, children between the ages of eight and 12 spent over four hours on screens in entertainment, and those between 13 and 18 spent over seven hours on their digital devices (Korhonen, 2021). The usage also includes time used for homework (Korhonen, 2021). Still, the pandemic exacerbated the worry as usage increased (Armstrong et al., 2022).

Interestingly, the increase in screen time for children during the pandemic might also be attributed to parents not having enough time to juggle multiple responsibilities and probably ignoring the critical role of supervising children (Novianti & Garzia, 2020). As a result, the level of parental engagement or supervision provided to children during the pandemic was dependent on factors such as time, parental education, age, and gender of the child, among others (Ribeiro, 2021; Sari & Maningtyas, 2020), and to a large extent consistent with themes that emerged from studies on screen time during the pandemic such as socioeconomic factors, financial constraints, and media literacy among parent (Agaton & Cueto, 2021; Al et al., 2021; Amanor et al., 2020; Bol et al., 2020; Bond, 2020; Bzour et al., 2022; Daniela et al., 2021; Eyimaaya & Irmak, 2020; Lubis & Lubis et al., 2020; Sari & Maningtyas; 2020). Notwithstanding, concerns expressed by parents can be resolved by implementing a family media use plan because parents are best positioned to support their children through effective communication and interaction (Eyimaaya & Irmak, 2020).

Socioeconomic & Financial Factors

Income, education, and career choice affect parents' ability to manage their children's screen time during the pandemic (Bol, 2020; Eyimaaya & Irmak, 2020). In addition, there were immediate needs for social distancing standards that needed to be connected with the duty of

effectively regulating screen time for children, especially on the part of parents (Bol, 2020; Eyimaaya & Irmak, 2020). As a result of the pressing financial concerns accompanying the pandemic, less attention was paid to monitoring children's screen time limit, especially for mothers struggling financially (Eyimaaya & Irmak, 2020; Lee, 2022). Interestingly, low socioeconomic status was more associated with prolonged screen time (Eyimaaya & Irmak, 2020; Lee, 2022) and the demands of jobs with family life (Crook, 2020; Götz et al., 2020). Furthermore, the challenges of screen time might have stemmed from a parent's level of education, which will usually affect the rate at which a parent understands the parenting and supervisory roles expected of them (Bol, 2020).

Media Illiteracy Among Parents

The lack of familiarity with screen technologies during the pandemic was a significant issue for parents (Lubis & Lubis et al., 2020). Consequently, parents' media illiteracy resulted in poor monitoring of children's screen time use because some parents struggled to adapt to digital learning tools (Agaton & Cueto, 2021; Amanor et al., 2020; Bzour et al., 2022; Parczewska, 2021) and their inability to operate the technologies (Lubis & Lubis et al., 2020). Understanding digital or online learning gadgets became imperative for parents to be effective in helping and monitoring their children (Novianti & Garcia, 2020). However, access to technology and readiness for remote learning were significant issues, among other challenges parents faced when schools transitioned fully to online learning (Bond, 2020; Bzour et al., 2022). Nonetheless, parents need to gain the requisite knowledge of e-learning (Amanor et al., 2020) potentially through preparation from the government, availability of devices, technology training for

teachers, internet availability, and providing more help to low-income families, especially during online education (Bzour et al., 2022).

Health Concerns

A significant concern for parents during the pandemic was the health risks it posed due to the online education system (Armstrong, 2022; Lee, 2020; Olive et al., 2022). Psychological and physical impairments caused by prolonged screen time in children and adolescents have been the crux of much research in the related area (Francom et al., 2021; Santos et al., 2023). Research has shown that children not receiving in-class education are at risk of developing health issues (Verlenden et al., 2021). Against this background, parental concerns about their children's health issues have not been unfounded (Trabelsi et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2021), and this goes beyond just the health concerns for children but also parents of school children (Olive et al., 2022).

Children Health Issues

Staring more at technology screens led to the detrimental effect of learning virtually during the pandemic, which extended to areas such as a reduction in physical activities and an increase in sedentary behaviors, weight gain, sleep disturbances, and behavioral problems (Rundle et al., 2020; Sultana et al., 2021; Trabelsi et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2021). Sleep disturbances were more pronounced during weekends because children spent more time on screens (Olive et al., 2022). Also, the digital shift puts children at risk of obesity, depression, lower quality of life, and many behavioral changes, including children with disabilities (Diaz, 2020). Boredom, irritability, and frustration were significant behavioral changes (Lee et al., 2021). Furthermore, prolonged exposure to screens has raised concerns about eye health, with reports of digital eye strain and myopia progression (Lee et al., 2021). Apart from this study, the

emerging eye health issue necessitates further research and measures to mitigate potential long-term effects on children's visual health (Lee et al., 2021). Moreover, balancing health and behavioral changes amidst the commitment that parents' paid jobs required was a significant concern during the pandemic (Olive et al., 2022).

Furthermore, the rise of electronic communication and digital media as growing cultural trends has led to heightened mood disorders, suicidal thoughts, and behaviors (Twenge et al., 2019). More so, the decline in sleep duration was also an adverse effect of the imminent rise in digital media and e-learning materials that formed the core of remote learning during the pandemic (Twenge et al., 2019). Prolonged screen time may have created a cohort effect on younger people. Two nationally representative surveys of U.S. adolescents in grades eight through 12 and national statistics on suicide deaths for those aged 13 to 18 showed that adolescents who spent more time on new media, including social media and electronic devices such as smartphones, were more likely to report mental health issues (Bakour et al., 2022; Twenge et al., 2019). On the contrary, adolescents who spent more time on non-screen activities, including physical and social interactions, sports and physical activities, attendance of religious gatherings, and print media, were less likely to report mental health issues (Twenge et al., 2018). Therefore, parents had to deliberately factor in physical activities, such as scheduling outdoor activities, to mitigate health concerns (Carroll et al., 2020).

Interestingly, the 2016 - 2017 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) showed that time spent on screen is associated with being overweight or obese. Therefore, physical activity is recommended to combat unfavorable increases in obese BMI among U.S. children and adolescents aged 0 - 17 (Bakour et al., 2022). Similarly, an analysis of the data derived from the

2016-2017 NSCH compared the effect of low physical activity on children with Down syndrome, a chromosomal disorder characterized by intellectual instability, congenital heart disease, sleep apnea, and visual and hearing impairments. The study revealed that children diagnosed with Down syndrome were 45% less likely to participate in physical activity and 52% less likely to participate in sports than children without physical or health-related diagnoses (Diaz, 2020), which worsened during the pandemic (Amatori et al., 2022). These statistics further fueled pressing concerns of parents over their children's well-being following the shift to a condition that necessitated extended screen use (Musa et al., 2022; Rundle et al., 2020; Sultana et al., 2021; Trabelsi et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2021).

However, since some studies show the detrimental effects of prolonged screen time on children during the pandemic, the transition to remote learning has improved physical activities and family bonding among siblings and parents (Seguin et al., 2021). Even more, increased screen time was seemingly a medium for efficiently juggling work-at-home demands since children were preoccupied with other things. Parents showed more concern about the sustainability of the change rather than the overall physical and psychological effects of quarantine protocols covered by several researchers (Seguin et al., 2021). Research on the influence of screen time on children needs to be investigated to see if it could provide mental health benefits to children because it allows them to socialize with family and friends (Seguin et al., 2021).

Parents Health Issues

The health concerns of prolonged screen time extended beyond the barriers of how it affected the child alone. Parents, too, were shown to be majorly affected (Olive et al., 2022).

While parents expressed their concerns about how screen time affected their children's psychological and physical well-being, parents also experienced poor sleep quality and physical activity during the pandemic (Olive et al., 2022). Compared with pre-pandemic data, this led to poorer mental health conditions, signifying increasing difficulties in regulating children's screen time.

Additionally, decreased physical activity increased sedentary behavior, which indicates both poor mental health conditions and cardiovascular disease (CVD) among parents and children (Olive et al., 2022), as well as cardiometabolic illnesses, high cholesterol, and high blood pressure among children and youths (Musa et al., 2022). On the other hand, a weak correlation exists between prolonged screen time and future risk involving poor cardiorespiratory fitness, poorer cognitive development, lower education attainments, poor sleep outcomes, or risk of metabolic syndrome in adolescents (De Oliveira & Guedes, 2016), even though pandemic studies on the health risks show otherwise (Olive et al., 2022; Trabelsi et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2021). However, adolescents engaged in non-screen activities had fewer mental health issues (Twenge et al., 2018), and parents who used indoor and outdoor spaces to continue physical activities to mitigate health issues for their children (Eyler et al., 2021).

Parental Stress

Parents experienced stress during the pandemic (Benassi et al., 2020; Brik et al., 2022; Giannotti et al., 2022; Janualt et al., 2021; Johnson et al., 2021; Skjerdingstad et al., 2021; Spinelli et al., 2021). Such stress is partly due to an increased engagement in motivating and supervising children's education (Giannotti et al., 2022; Rehman & Poobalan, 2021; Susilowati & Azzasyofia, 2020). In addition, due to the restriction in mobility and social isolation, parents

experienced psychological stress components, which included irritability, depression, anxiety, stress, and post-traumatic stress symptoms (Spinelli et al., 2021). These were found to have impaired the ability of parents to perform their roles satisfactorily, thus leading to dyadic parenting stress, a situation where there is a perceived mismatch between resources available to perform parental roles and the actual demands of parenting (Spinelli et al., 2021).

More so, the stress parents experienced resulted in an impaired parent-child relationship, leading to behavioral and emotional difficulties in the child (Lehmann et al., 2022; Spinelli et al., 2021). However, the microsystem school environment, which the pandemic deprived students of, mitigated the psychological issues that some students experienced (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Lehmann et al., 2022). Notably, the reactions to destress among children varied as the same depends on the quality of parenting and support rendered by the parents during the pandemic (Spinelli et al., 2021). The level of chaos in a home also seemed to affect parents' perception of stress during the pandemic (Spinelli et al., 2021). As such, parents living in chaotic environments recorded high-stress levels, leading to less positive parenting in parents with adolescents (Donker et al., 2021). However, feeling connected to family, friends, and neighbors influenced psychological well-being favorably in varying degrees (Landmann & Rohmann, 2022).

Although parents reported heightened stress levels during the pandemic confinement, women experienced such stress more than men during adverse events, with a spike in anxiety levels by over 49.5% (Benassi et al., 2020). Working women with children experienced more stress than those without children (Benassi et al., 2020). Mothers experience stress more than fathers, even before and during the pandemic (Giannotti et al., 2022). Furthermore, inconsistencies with parents' expectations regarding a particular issue and the financial

constraints that pervaded the pandemic period were identified as triggers of parental stress, which was deemed a precursor to child externalizing behaviors (Giannotti et al., 2022). However, the pressure from economic hardship experienced by women started before the pandemic (Benassi et al., 2020). Themes such as the age of the children and type of parent, work and home life balance, psychological vulnerability, and availability of resources, among others, are common themes in the literature that contribute to parental stress.

Age of Children and Parent Type

Parents of younger children experienced elevated mental stress levels due to an increased need for supervision among dependent children (Giannotti et al., 2022; Susilowati & Azzasyofia, 2020). Similarly, there were high-stress levels among younger parents who had younger, more dependent children needing increased parental involvement, a situation that had to be managed with accruing financial needs within the period (Skjerdingstad et al., 2021). Such evidence could also mean that adolescents and parents of adolescents experienced higher stress levels in comparison with parents who had younger children. Therefore, adolescents' mental health decline raises concerns (Brik et al., 2022). Additionally, parents with multiple children were more vulnerable to parental stress (Johnson et al., 2021; Wamsey-Nanney et al., 2021) than anxiety and depression (Johnson et al., 2021).

Single parents had more cases of depression and anxiety than married or cohabiting parents (Johnson et al., 2021), and parents experienced higher stress levels in extended family arrangements, while children showed lower anxiety levels in extended family arrangements (Brik et al., 2022). More so, women and mothers with multiple children especially encountered higher levels of stress, anxiety, and depression than fathers (Brik et al., 2022). Since social support is a

necessary protective factor that could aid parental resilience or attempts to adapt to the pandemic (Johnson et al., 2021) and social engagements were limited during the pandemic, a rise in stress among all parents may have been expected by scholars investigating such topics. Furthermore, parents with preexisting psychiatric conditions experienced greater stress levels during the pandemic (Johnson et al., 2021) and parents with unfavorable childhood experiences, which may have affected their parental skills (Hails et al., 2022).

Women of color and those with low social-economic status experienced more stress coping with their children's education during the pandemic, which negatively affected their children's behavior (Johnston et al., 2021; Robertson, 2021). Only 52% of Black women had enough income to meet their basic needs, in contrast to 78% of White women, which showed the ultimate struggle of Black women in managing their households and children (Robertson, 2021). Moreover, many Black women faced severe social isolation during the pandemic (Robertson, 2021). Despite these findings on other factors that heightened stress during the pandemic, many studies point to the fact that the pandemic was a significant stressor for parents (Hails et al., 2022). A significant predictor of parental stress was anger expressed by parents toward their children (Johnson et al., 2021). Confinement in homes gave room for irritation; some parents became angrier at their children during the pandemic (Johnson et al., 2021).

Work and Home Life Balance

Triggers of parental mental stress were also derived from the imbalance experienced between work and home needs, such as remote learning requirements, which also affected children (Giannotti et al., 2022; Susilowati & Azzasyofia, 2020). Significantly, differing stress levels among families did not change given their socioeconomic status (Giannotti et al., 2022);

however, family stressors increased to heightened levels following the unavailability of resources to address arising needs adequately during the pandemic (Johnson et al., 2021). Notably, a higher stress level encountered during the pandemic among socio-economically disadvantaged families led to unemployment, poor educational qualifications, and inadequate income, resulting in child anxiety (Brik et al., 2022). Following this development, it is vital for further research to be conducted concerning how long-term strategies can be developed to address the concerns in mental health services (Brik et al., 2022), as family stress theory posits that exposure to new risks disrupts regular family routine, a situation which jeopardizes family equilibrium (Malia, 2006).

Psychological Vulnerability

Psychological vulnerability owing to the new challenges of the times was felt, especially among women, leading to a decline in mental health and maladaptive coping strategies for parents and children (Johnson et al., 2021). Greater levels of stress in this regard served as inroads to abusive and violent parenting (Johnson et al., 2021). Furthermore, tremendous parental stress was linked to anxiety and depression (Johnson et al., 2021). Interestingly, higher psychological stress levels were recorded among parents who strictly complied with the stay-athome orders, restricting social interactions, debunking the results of most pieces of literature that parental roles are associated with parental stress, especially among women as opposed to men. Rather, gender gaps differ according to cultural distinctions (Johnson et al., 2021). However, self-efficacy and social support were pointed out as protective factors that could aid parental resilience and guide parents as they face challenges (Johnson et al., 2021). Additionally, decreases in psychological distress among parents were attributed to the quality of shared co-

parenting relationship (Giannotti et al., 2022; Susilowati & Azzasyofia, 2020) and the family as a protective factor against stress (Donker, 2021).

Struggle with Learning Tools

Parents struggled to adapt to digital learning tools during the pandemic (Agaton & Cueto, 2021; Amanor et al., 2020; Bzour et al., 2022; Parczewska, 2021), and the need to understand digital or online learning gadgets became imperative (Novianti & Garcia, 2020). Digital learning tools, including digital learning management systems such as Google Classroom, ClassDojo, Moodle, and Canvas, are reliable mediums for distance learning (Novianti & Garcia, 2020). However, learners' preparedness, teachers' preparedness, IT infrastructure, management support, school culture, and preference to meet face-to-face are factors affecting teachers' and parents' readiness to transition to e-learning (So & Swatman (2005). Furthermore, internet access and lack of IT knowledge were barriers that caused a problem in transitioning to e-learning among students (Amanor et al., 2020; Owusu-Fordjour et al., 2020).

More so, the barriers among parents with inadequate resources to purchase e-learning gadgets and financial issues heightened the inequality gap in the availability of e-learning materials, especially among families of low socioeconomic status (Daniela et al., 2021). Parents' lack of technical know-how and e-learning gadgets to assist their children also contributed to the issue (Amanor et al., 2020; Owusu-Fordjour et al., 2020). Approximately 88% of parents who participated in the Amanor et al. (2020) study lacked the requisite knowledge of e-learning, resulting in a lack of parental support in children's education, which served as an in-road to poor academic performance. Considering the frequent presence of children within the confines of the home following the closure of in-person classes, increased attention to students' psychological

and physical growth may have been expected. Unfortunately, students lacking good parental support missed out on the necessary factors for the full development of a child during the pandemic (Amanor et al., 2020). Common themes emerging from the literature on the struggle with learning tools include internet connection (Bond, 2020; Bzour et al.; Demir & Demir, 2020), access to e-learning gadgets and parents' financial situation, and the benefits of learning tools.

Internet Connection

Internet connection posed a significant obstruction for 70% of parents of school children (Demir & Demir, 2021). Also, studies on the experiences of parents, students, and teachers during the pandemic found that access to technology and readiness for remote learning were significant issues, among other challenges, when schools transitioned fully to online learning (Bond, 2020; Bzour et al., 2022). Consequently, future studies need to include preparation from the government, availability of devices, technology training for teachers, internet availability, and providing more help to low-income families, as these factors have not yet been discussed in the research (Bzour et al., 2022).

Online Learning Gadgets and Parents' Financial Status

During the pandemic, online learning gadgets and parents' financial status were issues (Amanor et al., 2020; Daniela et al., 2020; Zuo et al., 2021) even though 55% of parents, representing most of the research participants in a study, purchased online learning gadgets, indicating proper technological support (Daniela et al., 2021). This disparity in technology is attributed to parents' financial situation (Amanor et al., 2020). Despite this difference, other factors are responsible (Bzour et al., 2022), and other factors could also be responsible if more

information were gathered from some participants who declined to participate in the study (Amanor et al., 2020). Although parents and students experienced these challenges, online learning produced some benefits. For example, students and parents simultaneously acquired technical knowledge during online learning (Dwijuliani et al., 2021) to overcome some challenges.

Benefits of Learning Tools

Learning tools produced some benefits during the pandemic because online learning is not bound by time and space; thus, students could access lessons without physical convergence at a specific point (Abramson, 2021; Almahasees, 2021; Dwijuliani et al., 2021). Moreover, schools organized learning socialization among parents to instill a proper understanding of their child's curriculum and e-learning gadgets (Dwijuliani et al., 2021). Consequently, learning socialization increased parents' inclusion in their children's education (Abramson, 2021; Dwijuliani et al., 2021). In addition to creating a technologically fit generation, online learning gave children a sense of independence, responsibility, and organization, as self-supervision became a primal concept (Abramson, 2021; Dwijuliani et al., 2021). These values became apparent when there was a need to submit assignments and meet deadlines (Dwijuliani et al., 2021).

Despite these benefits, more recommendations from past studies point to the need for schools to provide training to parents on how to use digital tools (Amanor et al., 2020; Daniela et al., 2021) and provide technical and financial support to parents, especially to economically disadvantaged parents (Agaton & Cueto, 2021). It is essential to reduce technical issues and provide no or low-cost internet connections to families of low socioeconomic status to support

learning (Demir & Demir, 2021). Furthermore, by fostering digital skills, promoting digitally supported environments (Chiu et al., 2021), and encouraging government partnerships with telecommunication companies, leaders may be more successful in making internet access more affordable to make internet access much more affordable (Amanor et al., 2020) while responsively developing a stronger sense of motivation among the users.

Motivational Issues

During the COVID-19 pandemic, parents faced numerous challenges, including their children's diminishing motivation for learning and their struggle to motivate them, resulting in various issues for students (Camacho et al., 2021; Chiu et al., 2021; Lessy et al., 2021; Zacollette et al., 2020). Extensive research has been conducted to explore the constructs of motivation and the associated theories (Gottfried, 2019, 2023a; Graham, 2020; Schunk & Dibenedetto, 2020; Zacolletti et al., 2020). Notably, self-determination theory (Deci & Ryan, 1985) was employed to examine children's motivation during the pandemic, revealing the adverse effects of the shift away from traditional learning environments and the physical absence of teachers and peers on students' academic motivation (Huck & Zhang, 2021; Zacolletti et al., 2020). Consequently, the pillars of competence, connection to their environment, and the need for autonomy, all central to the self-determination theory (Deci & Ryan, 1985), were negatively influenced, leading to reduced motivation levels (Gottfried, 2023; Huck & Zhang, 2021; Zacolletti et al., 2020).

Therefore, enhancing a child's competence, autonomy, and connection to their learning environment may influence their motivation positively (Zacolletti et al., 2020). In addition, addressing children's psychological needs, particularly relatedness, emerged as a significant factor in children's mental well-being (Chiu et al., 2021). The abrupt disruption of education

during the pandemic disrupted students' competence, relatedness, and autonomy needs, resulting in increased stress and anxiety levels (Camacho et al., 2020). However, social support was identified as a critical avenue for fulfilling a child's psychological needs (Chiu et al., 2021; Zacolletti et al., 2020). Unfortunately, the absence of such support led to heightened anxiety among students and increased mental health stress, placing additional burdens on parents navigating the challenges of the pandemic (Chiu et al., 2021; Zacolletti et al., 2020). Consequently, students exhibited diminished academic motivation and poorer academic performance (Camacho et al., 2021; Ginsburg et al., 2020).

Stronger teacher-child relationships and increased social support positively affected children's motivation (Chiu et al., 2021; Zacolletti et al., 2020). Social support is essential in creating a stable environment where a child's basic psychological needs can be met, as the self-determination theory outlines (Deci & Ryan, 1985). While no direct link is established between fellow students' support and a child's motivation based on parents' perceptions, students' perceptions may differ from those of parents if their opinions are sought (Camacho et al., 2021). However, social support is crucial for students' motivation and academic achievement (Bunte et al., 2020; Larivière-Bastien et al., 2022). Nonetheless, there was an ongoing debate regarding the responsibility for motivating students, with some asserting that motivating children primarily lies with parents (Lessy et al., 2021) and students themselves (Dwijuliani et al., 2021), mainly when adequate support is available from their immediate surroundings (Farudah et al., 2020). Key themes such as low academic achievement, the roles and responsibilities of parents and students in motivating children, and the strategies employed to maintain children's motivation for learning in a disrupted educational environment are found in student motivation during the pandemic.

Low Academic Achievement and Consequences

The effect of low academic performance and learning loss during COVID-19 extends beyond immediate concerns even though reasons such as student dissociation with teachers (Bueno, 2020; Engzell et al., 2021; Kosman, 2021; Kuhfeld et al., 2020; Sintema, 2020; Spitzer & Musslick, 2021) and environmental distractions for students are among triggers of low academic performance during the pandemic (Giusti et al., 2021). Prolonged academic disruptions can lead to learning loss, achievement gaps, and adverse long-term effects on students' educational outcomes (Kuhfeld et al., 2020). The effects are particularly pronounced for vulnerable populations, including low-income students and those with learning disabilities or limited access to resources (Huck & Zhang, 2021; Reardon, 2020). Low academic performance contributed to heightened stress levels, anxiety, and a decline in mental well-being among students (Loades et al., 2020; Kosman, 2021). However, self-responsibility can mitigate the effects (Dwijuliani et al., 2021).

Self-Responsibility

Academic motivation during synchronous or asynchronous e-learning is a question of independence and self-responsibility as students must consider factors such as the desire to succeed, future hopes and aspirations, as well as an appreciation of learning, which could be intrinsic or extrinsic (Dwijuliani et al., 2021). However, creating variations in exciting activities around learning, building a conducive learning environment, and developing mediums to encourage the learning child can foster increased child motivation (Hernawati et al., 2020). Furthermore, creative measures among teachers and parents, such as creating illustrative video lessons, increased student engagement and motivation for learning for students who could not

access class due to internet issues (Hernawati et al., 2020). Also, the provision of a conducive learning atmosphere, including a strong internet connection, timely assessment of given exercises, giving good commentaries on a child's work, as well as creating a healthy competitive and collaborative atmosphere are factors that could increase the motivation or enthusiasm to learn (Dwijuliani et al., 2021). When motivated to learn, students can quickly achieve learning goals (Faridah et al., 2020). However, some studies placed the responsibility of students to stay motivated on parents (Lessy et al., 2021; Rousoulioti et al., 2022; Valorosso et al., 2022).

Parent Responsibility

Throughout the pandemic, the importance of parental involvement in children's education has also become increasingly evident (Gurgur & Yazcavir, 2020). Unfortunately, few families are in a position to be more involved in their children's schooling (Martin & Sorensen, 2020). The absence of such involvement presents a unique set of challenges for stay-at-home parents or those without the educational credentials to guarantee children's academic success in school (Kuhfeld et al., 2020). However, students' motivation issues still burden parents to motivate children to learn (Lessy et al., 2021; Rousoulioti et al., 2022; Valorosso et al., 2022). Ensuring children stay motivated toward academic work meant that parents supported motivation to learn (Carbonilla et al., 2022).

However, there were increased possibilities for a child to be distracted at home (Huck & Zhang, 2021; Lessy et al., 2021). This desire to fuel the interest of the learning child was interrupted by factors such as the inability to use e-learning gadgets, poor parent-teacher communication, financial difficulties, and failure to juggle supervisory roles with employment demands (Lessy et al., 2021). These factors led to increased anxiety among students and

signified increased mental health stress, which was beyond the parents' control when facing the new challenges that accompanied the pandemic. Poor academic motivation led to poor performance among the students. However, social competence and emotional maturity are the core of a child's socio-emotional development (Lessy et al., 2021; Spiedel, 2023). Building these core values may be the responsibility of the parents; hence, their role in a child's development is vitally formative (Lessy et al., 2021; Salavera et al., 2022). Also, a child's development extends to the child's psychosocial, emotional, and physical needs (Lessy et al., 2021).

Parenting patterns such as permissive, authoritative, and democratic parenting were identified as patterns parents could employ to help children (Lessy et al., 2021; Salavera, 2022). Being closely connected to how motivated a child stays, parenting patterns can influence a child's motivation and interest in academic work. In this regard, suitable and proper parenting could improve students' motivation and interest (Lessy et al., 2021). Therefore, socio-emotional parenting influences a child's motivation and learning interest level (Lessy et al., 2021).

Similarly, motivation affects a child's academic interest (Carbonilla et al., 2022; Cook, 2020).

Regardless of the parenting pattern adopted, ensuring that children remain motivated to ensure positive educational outcomes was seen as a major preoccupation of parents during the pandemic (Lessy et al., 2021). Additionally, some factors improved children's motivation (Chiu et al., 2021).

Strategies for Motivating Students

A learning environment that catered to the psychological needs of children and maintained their motivation with the transition to online classes was an essential need (Chiu et al., 2021; Lessy et al., 2021). Also, promoting technologically supported environments, enriching

teachers' ability to apply motivational theories to improve learning environments, and supporting teachers' well-being concerning job satisfaction boosted student motivation (Chiu et al., 2021). Creating such environments hinged on recognizing the challenges parents and students experienced that might have prevented them from staying motivated. Furthermore, the ability of parents to build children's independence in learning helped improve children's motivation for learning (Cook, 2020). Parents' ability to act as role models to children, counseling the children, and serving as friendly teachers boosted children's motivation for learning (Carbonilla et al., 2022).

Furthermore, establishing clear communication channels between parents, teachers, and school administrators was crucial in reducing the concern over students' motivation and low academic achievement concerns (Ginsburg et al., 2020; Lo, 2020; Vegas & Ronfeldt, 2021).

Regular updates on curriculum changes, instructional strategies, and student progress can help alleviate concerns and ensure ongoing support (Ginsburg et al., 2020). Additionally, providing parents with resources and training to navigate remote learning platforms effectively can enhance parents' ability to support their children's academic progress (Lo, 2020). Collaboration between schools and parents is seemingly another essential strategy. Schools can involve parents in decision-making processes, seeking their input and feedback to create a supportive and inclusive learning environment (Vegas & Ronfeldt, 2021).

Engaging parents through virtual parent-teacher conferences, workshops, and support groups can foster a sense of community and shared responsibility for students' academic success (Vegas & Ronfeldt, 2021). Moreover, targeted interventions to address learning loss and mitigate the effect of educational disruptions are vital (Kuhfeld et al., 2020). Implementing catch-up

programs, tutoring, and academic support services can help bridge the gaps caused by remote learning (Kuhfeld et al., 2020). Even further, individualized educational plans and accommodations should be provided for students with special needs to ensure equitable access to education (Reardon, 2020).

Parents Inability to Act as Teachers

The immediate closure of schools during the pandemic compelled parents and children to spend long hours together (Aragao, 2022; Huck & Zhang, 2021; Kerr et al., 2021). Consequently, parents were performing dual roles as teachers and parents (Villadsen et al., 2020; Yildiz et al., 2022; Zohiro et al., 2022), creating great difficulty in balancing professional and academic obligations for children (Susilowati & Azzasyofia, 2020). As such, parents' time with children increased, but some parents experienced a sense of guilt for not meeting the educational demands (Misfud, 2021). Interestingly, parent's experiences vary according to gender, socioeconomic status, and other factors (Collins et al., 2020; Crook, 2020; Villadsen et al., 2020; Zamarro et al., 2020). About 58% of parents with school-aged children were involved in homeschooling on weekdays during the lockdown (Villadsen, 2020). Among the parents, 64% were mothers, while only 49% of fathers engaged in this category (Villadsen, 2020). Interestingly, 63% of parents with a degree or more were also in this category, relatively higher than 49% for those with lower levels of education (Villadsen, 2020). Mothers spent one and a half hours more than fathers on homeschooling (Andrew, 2022; Aragao, 2022; Villadsen, 2020). Furthermore, working parents during the lockdown spent on average, over one hour less on homeschooling than parents not working ((Villadsen, 2020; Xue & McMunn, 2021), and parents with a child of primary school age in the household typically spent nearly two hours more on this activity than those whose children were of secondary school age (Villadsen, 2020).

Time spent by parents in other interactive activities apart from regular homeschooling showed that mothers of preschool children spent over six hours daily on interactive activities with children compared to an average of three hours spent among fathers (Villadsen, 2020). Similarly, mothers of primary school-aged children spent more time on interactive activities with their children, about three and a half hours, than fathers who spent just under two hours (Brom et al., 2020; Villadsen, 2020). Furthermore, the percentage of working women who quit jobs to care for children increased from 27.3% to 32.1% as the pandemic wore on compared to men who did not experience any change in this regard (Heggeness & Fields, 2020). These statistics are represented below (see Table 1). The differences in time spent among parents represent the varying gender reactions following the need of parents to engage in their children's education actively (Andrew et al., 2022; Aragao, 2022; Brom et al., 2020; Villadsen, 2020). The need to support children in acting as teachers (Rasmatadila et al., 2020; Watts & Pattnaik, 2022; Zohiro, 2022) and address the risk of parents abandoning their jobs and parental duties led to different challenges (Adams & Todd, 2020; Villadsen, 2020).

Table 1Statistics of Time Spent with Children During the Pandemic Based on Gender

	Total (%)	Women (%)	Men (%)
Parents Involved in Homeschooling	58%	64%	49%
Education Level - Degree or More	63%		

Time Spent on Homeschooling (hours) -	+1.5 hrs.	
Mothers		
Interactive Activities Time (hours) -	+6 hrs.	+3 hrs.
Preschool Children		
Interactive Activities Time (hours) - Primary	+3.5 hrs.	+2 hrs.
School-Aged Children		
Percentage increase for parents who quit	27.3% to	12.3% to
jobs to care for children	32.1%	12.1%

Note. Data provided by Heggeness and Fields (2020)

Challenges of Acting as Teachers

Parents were expected to perform the role of teachers, such as explaining class lessons to children and helping with their homework, but the experience was full of issues (Watts & Pattnaik, 2020). The increased time spent with their children created an over-reliance on parents, especially in younger children in areas where they were expected to do things for themselves (Watts & Pattnaik, 2022). Parents experienced limited knowledge of what their children were taught in school, issues with online learning gadgets, internet connectivity issues, little time to assist their children, and a lack of patience (Zohiro, 2022). Furthermore, parents who needed help understanding the class lesson and could not assist their children created more burdens for teachers (Rasmatadila et al., 2020). Parents did not have the skills to develop the learning experience teachers made for their children in physical classrooms (Rasmatadila et al., 2020). Consequently, they experienced an uptick in externalizing behaviors from their children (Watts & Pattnaik, 2022).

Risk of Abandoning Work and Parental Duties

Due to the burden of juggling work and the demands of children's education, parents, especially mothers, were at risk of abandoning the economic means to care for their families (Villadsen, 2020; Zamarro et al., 2020). Alternatively, parents prioritize work over supervising their children's learning, abandoning their children to older siblings or leaving them to care for themselves (Adams & Todd, 2020). The situation where parents placed higher importance on their jobs instead of overseeing their children's education might have been altered if parents had the choice of enrolling their children in after-school programs, as some did before the pandemic (Major et al., 2023) or if they could seek assistance from other family members (Cowan, 2020).

Parents' Dissatisfaction with Teachers and School Leaders

Parents expressed dissatisfaction with the assistance received from teachers and school leaders (Al Hadhrami & Saadi, 2021), especially regarding school children with disabilities (Yazcavir & Gurgur, 2021; Asbury et al., 2020). School-aged children with disabilities had challenges with technology (Smith, 2020) and suffered an academic decline in online learning (Burketts & Reynolds, 2020). Schoolchildren with special needs could not participate in the EBA television lessons made available to all students, and teachers failed to provide feedback on assignments on a worksheet (Yazcavir & Gurgur, 2021).

. Consequently, parents felt frustrated with teachers' or schools' lack of support to aid their children's learning and teachers failing to provide feedback to students on assignments on a worksheet (Yazcavir & Gurgur, 2021). Furthermore, several students did not attend online classes consistently (Yazcavir & Gurgur, 2021), and over 70% of school children with hearing loss experienced issues using technology equipment online, even though most schools provided a

blended learning option (Schafer et al., 2021). Children with hearing loss received better support in physical classrooms from therapeutic staff compared to online learning (Schafer et al., 2021). Also, even though some school districts did not consider the learning disparities for students with special needs in online education during school closures and did not plan accordingly, the lack of preparation was due to the sudden emergence of the pandemic (Burkett & Reynolds, 2020). Regardless of the modality, school leaders and teachers are responsible for creating an inclusive learning environment for students with special needs (DeMathews et al., 2020; Gargiulo & Bouck, 2020).

However, creating an equitable learning environment became impossible when teachers expressed frustration with little support from school leaders (Diliberti, 2021) and were unprepared to instruct students with special needs online (Yazcavir & Gurgur, 2021). Also, teachers could not satisfy parents in their children's education because they faced unique challenges during the pandemic (Smith, 2020). A study on teacher efficacy during the pandemic revealed that 68% of the teachers had never taught online, 66% had taught online, and 55% had taught in online and face-to-face classroom formats (Trust & Whalen, 2020). More so, teachers were unprepared for the different challenges online learning presented, such as the issues of students' internet connectivity problems, the right strategy or tools to enable teaching, lack of clear policy direction from the government, and changing instructional design to fit the needs of learners (Trust & Whalen, 2020; Bzour et al., 2022).

However, other studies contradicted parents' dissatisfaction with teachers and school leaders during the pandemic in that even though school leaders supported teachers and students, some teachers lacked the technological competence to teach online (An et al., 2022; Kavravic &

Kesim, 2021). Also, principals catered to the social-emotional needs of their teachers through constant communication and provided resources but could not meet the nutritional and technology needs of some students because of transportation issues (Hayes et al., 2021). While circumstances may be unforeseen during the pandemic, there is an expectation that leadership roles are fulfilled during a crisis (Kwatubana & Malaodi, 2021).

Moreover, given the unpredictable nature of crises that can swiftly disrupt an entire school and hinder its functioning, it is imperative for school administrators and leaders to proactively establish preventive measures, readiness protocols, response strategies, and recovery plans (Balseviciene & Sinkariova, 2013). This readiness ensures the school's resilience in unexpected crises (Balseviciene & Sinkariova 2013). Additionally, preparing for crisis can be accomplished, as evident in a school that implemented a day for virtual teaching in 2006, continued doing so before the COVID-19 pandemic, and was technologically prepared for the transition (Christensen & Alexander, 2020). Therefore, if school leaders and teachers had the opportunity to prepare for the crisis, it would have prevented parents from feeling dissatisfied with the preparation (Yazcavir & Gurgur, 2021). Interestingly, school leaders need crisis management and the importance of incorporating crisis management into both preservice and inservice training for education leaders (Grissom & Condon, 2021). However, teachers and school administrators experienced their own challenges.

Teachers' Pandemic Challenges

The concept of 100% remote learning was introduced to teachers during the pandemic, which resulted in the use of several new technologies to teach students through online platforms (Leech et al., 2022; Pelser et al., 2022). This change raised many challenges for teachers,

especially in K-12 education (An et al., 2022; Christakis, 2020; Nugroho & Haghegh, 2021) and the quality of education provided to students (Spitzer & Musslick, 2021). One of the significant challenges faced by K-12 teachers was the lack of student participation and engagement in class (An et al., 2022; Huck & Zhang, 2021). In the case of remote learning, teachers did not have face-to-face interactions with all the students, which widened the homework gap (An et al., 2022; Bunte et al., 2020). The homework gap is the lack of connectivity and support students require to complete their school tasks at home (An et al., 2022; Bunte et al., 2020). Teachers faced difficulty engaging all the students simultaneously and encouraging them to participate in the online teaching-learning process during class due to the inability to see or interact with all the students (Daniel, 2020).

Another challenge faced by K-12 teachers is the lack of technological access and knowledge for all students (Young et al., 2020; Nazir & Khan, 2021). The digital divide among students during the pandemic was significant because it was divided into access to technology and effective use (Hall et al., 2020). Although many institutions provide students with digital and Wi-Fi devices, most are unaware of how to use the devices (Nazir & Khan, 2021). Furthermore, the pandemic created severe burnout for K-12 teachers due to increased demand, needing teachers to learn and use new technological mediums and be available for students' inquiries outside regular school hours (Rubilar & Oros, 2021). This increased demand was true even though teachers had experienced challenges learning new technology in the past (Johnson et al., 2016).

However, remote learning demanded that K-12 teachers created digital videos,

PowerPoint presentations, and e-notes for the students (Rubilar & Oros, 2021). Also, teachers

had to work round the clock to attend to students' questions without any time restrictions, leading to increased stress and workload for the teachers (Rubilar & Oros, 2021). In addition, K-12 teachers experienced the challenges of accommodating the needs of overly demanding parents, learning new technologies, and re-establishing student schedules (Rubilar & Oros, 2021). However, peer support from fellow teachers helped to mitigate the stress teachers experienced (An et al., 2022).

School Leaders' Pandemic Challenges

One of the significant challenges was the lack of skills, experience, abilities, and resources for introducing and implementing remote learning (Mookan, 2022). Kindergarten to 12^{th} -grade school administrators were accustomed to working through traditional or on-campus methods (Mookan, 2022). Still, the sudden change in learning methods demanded that they focus on their learning and the development of advanced educational means (Aytac, 2020). Such digital incompetency posed a significant administrative problem to schools in helping students effectively (Aytac, 2020). School administrators observed a lack of enthusiasm among teachers for conducting live lessons, a noticeable lack of motivation among students for learning, and challenges in parents' ability to effectively encourage their children's learning (Aytac, 2020).

Another challenge faced by school administrators was communicating information to teachers, parents, and students to provide support (Asbury et al., 2020; Yazcavir & Gurgur, 202) even though other studies reveal that school leaders communicated and provided support (An et al., 2022; Hayes et al., 2021; Kavravic & Kesim, 2021). However, when all communication was conducted through online mediums, there was limited ability to assess and monitor the provision of ongoing educational information, and it became a challenge for school administrators to

disseminate timely and effective instructional knowledge to the respective parties, especially students (Johnson et al., 2016). School administrators also experienced significant physical and mental stress due to managing the pandemic and ensuring students' and staff's safety, which posed a considerable challenge for staff to work efficiently (Upadyaya et al., 2021). The stress and isolation brought on by the pandemic may be the cause for the rise in school administrators' propensity toward internet addiction (Aytac, 2020), as loneliness is associated with the COVID-19-related quality of life and strongly predicts internet addiction (Ekyana et al., 2021).

Summary

In summary, a review of different literature on this study revealed that parents worldwide experienced a myriad of challenges during the pandemic. Still, no study has yet investigated the experiences of parents who allowed their children to continue online learning after COVID-19 at the time of this research, thereby creating a gap. Parents expressed concerns over the issues of increased screen time use by their children and the ensuing health and psychological problems (Armstrong, 2022; Carroll et al., 2020; Larivière-Bastien et al., 2022; Negata et al., 2020; Pandya & Lodha, 2021; Trabelsi et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2021). Furthermore, there were challenges in which parents struggled with their children's learning tools and, as a result, failed to provide the needed educational support to their children (Agaton & Cueto, 2021; Amanor et al., 2020; Bzour et al., 2022; Parczewska, 2021) as well as other issues that led to parental stress (Benassi et al., 2020; Brik et al., 2022; Giannotti et al., 2022; Janualt et al., 2021; Johnson et al., 2021; Skjerdingstad et al., 2021; Spinelli et al., 2021) during the pandemic. However, other studies contradict some of the challenges that the pandemic caused (Carroll et al., 2020; Christensen & Alexander, 2020; Crook, 2020; Dwijuliani et al., 2021; Götz et al., 2020; Kavravic & Kesim,

2021; Landmann & Rohmann, 2020; Villadsen et al., 2020). It is, therefore, essential to explore the experiences of parents whose children continued online education after schools reopened to determine if parents can better juggle work with their children's education if they receive more familial school support. Furthermore, this research could provide insight into areas where schools and family education policies could adopt or encourage parental engagement.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Overview

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to understand the post-COVID-19 online learning modality experiences for parents of middle school children in an urban area in the Southeastern United States. This chapter presented the study design, its relevance to the construct, and the research questions guiding the study. Furthermore, I described the setting and participants, my position related to the interpretive framework and philosophical assumptions, and the procedures and data collection methods that were used. Also, I discussed my role, the procedures for the research study, and the data collection plan. Lastly, a summary is presented at the end of the chapter.

Research Design

A qualitative research design was used to examine the post-COVID-19 online learning experiences for parents of middle school children in an urban area in the Southeastern United States. Qualitative research is distinguished by its scrutiny of real-world phenomena within the context of the subjects examined. This form of investigation relies on data collection via methodologies such as interviews, observations, written records, personal notes, and document analysis (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The design of qualitative research endeavors involves identifying and exploring salient themes inherent in the acquired data. Subsequently, the research findings are meticulously reported, revealing the investigator's underlying assumptions and potential biases. This approach also entailed the identification of gaps in the existing body of knowledge and the articulation of the study's contributions to the extant literature within the

relevant field. Moreover, it involved the advocacy for potential changes based on the research outcomes (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Also, using a qualitative design, I attempted to make sense of the meanings people attributed to their experiences within their natural environments (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). Qualitative research designs effectively revealed information about the problem or phenomenon under investigation (Friedensen et al., 2017). Furthermore, qualitative designs gave researchers the ability to interpret human experiences (Jackson et al., 2007) and to see human involvement as the main element of the research (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Qualitative designs also provided the ability to consider the personal role of researchers and participants in the research process and the social construction of reality that occurred because of studying a phenomenon (Stake, 1995).

Specifically, this research employed a hermeneutic phenomenological study of the construct. The hermeneutic phenomenological approach emphasizes interpreting and making sense of human experiences from the individuals' perspective, aiming to capture the subjective reality as they perceived it (van Manen, 2014). Researchers using hermeneutic phenomenology sought to delve into the rich and complex layers of human experience, recognizing that these experiences were deeply contextual and influenced by various factors in the lives of individuals (van Manen, 2014). Furthermore, hermeneutic phenomenology acknowledged the interconnectedness between the researcher and the participants, understanding that the researcher's interpretation was shaped by their background, biases, and preconceptions (van Manen, 2014). As such, this approach encouraged reflexivity and acknowledged the subjective nature of knowledge construction and the need to interpret participants' experiences intelligibly without suppositions (van Manen, 2014).

Choosing hermeneutic phenomenology as a research design offered me a rigorous methodological framework using interviews, focus groups, and document analysis to explore and interpret the post-pandemic lived experiences of the parents whose children continued their education virtually. Also, it allowed me to uncover deep insights into the meaning and essence of those experiences within their specific context (van Manen, 2014). The triangulation of data obtained through the different means of data gathering provided rich data that revealed themes relevant to this research (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 1990; 2014).

Research Questions

Five research questions guided this hermeneutic phenomenology study. The questions provided answers to the remote learning environment experiences for parents of middle school children in an urban area in the Southeastern United States who continued learning in an online modality after the pandemic. The questions consisted of one central question and three subquestions.

Central Research Ouestion

What are the experiences of working parents of middle school children in remote learning environments?

Sub-Question One

How do working parents respond to children's educational needs when learning remotely?

Sub-Question Two

How do working parents experience school support for children's educational needs when learning remotely?

Sub-Question Three

How do working parents meet the social needs of their children in a remote learning environment?

Sub-Question Four

How do working parents integrate familial support systems for remote learning children's educational needs?

Setting and Participants

Obtaining permission for the site and recruiting study participants are vital aspects of qualitative research (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The setting must allow for effective data gathering with obtained permission before using the setting for the research study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Likewise, individual participant consent information must be made available to the participants, detailing their right to participate at will, the reason for the study, and any risks they could experience because of their involvement in the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This section provided more details on the setting for the research and the study participants.

Setting

The setting for this research was in an urban area in the Southeastern United States. The urban area in the Southeastern United States has a population of 544,928 people (U.S. Census Bureau, n.d.). Furthermore, the region is racially diverse. About 24% of the population is White, Blacks make up 64% of the population, 4% is Asian, American Indian, and Native Hawaiians are less than one percent of the total population in the urban area of the Southeastern United States. Also, over 48% of the residents have a bachelor's degree or higher and are 25 years and older. The median household income is about \$62,000 annually, and over 66% of the residents in the

urban areas in the Southeastern United States are employed. However, more women are in the labor force than men (U.S. Census Bureau, n.d.). This urban area in the Southeastern United States experienced the COVID-19 lockdown, which required schools to educate students remotely like in other parts of the United States. However, many families were given the choice of virtual learning during the pandemic and post-pandemic, and the families chose to continue remote learning post-COVID-19 in an urban area in the Southeastern United States making this an ideal location to explore the lived experiences of these families (Georgia Virtual, 2024).

Participants

The participants in this research study were working parents of middle school children in an urban area in the Southeastern United States who continued their children's education virtually after the in-person teaching restrictions were lifted. The participants were parents of one or more middle school-aged children who transitioned to online learning during the pandemic and have continued to date. Participants were employed in a part-time or full-time position in any modality. Modalities of work environments included in-person, part-time remote, or full-time remote. Participants were at least 18 years of age or older and of any identified gender. Using criterion and snowball sampling, I recruited individuals through social media post who met the criteria of this study (Creswell & Poth, 2018), which sought to know their experiences in the post-COVID-19 era with having children learn completely online. Then, participants who were recruited through criterion sampling were asked if they knew anyone that met the criteria of the study and would be interested in participating. Seven parents who met the criteria were initially recruited and then snowball sampling was applied to recruit the remaining five participants. The rationale for using both criterion and snowball sampling techniques was to solicit participants

who met the criteria from the initial participants who are less than the required sample size (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Pseudonyms were given to the participants to protect their identities.

Recruitment Plan

The nature of my study warranted selecting participants who could provide the information for the post-COVID-19 experiences with children studying online after the pandemic. Participants were recruited following IRB approval (see Appendix A). I used criterion and snowball sampling to recruit the participants (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Miles & Huberman, 1994; Patton, 1990). Criterion sampling involves selecting participants who meet specific criteria and snowball sampling asks other study participants to refer those who meet the criteria of the study, especially when the sample size is less than the required number during the initial recruitment efforts (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Miles & Huberman, 1994; Patton, 1990).

Participants must be able to provide rich information on the research topic (Patton, 1990, 2002).

Thus, the participants were working parents of middle school children who chose to continue their child's education online after in-person classes resumed, and they were 18 years or older.

The sample pool only included working parents of middle school children attending virtual schools in an urban area in the Southeastern United States. The study sought 12 – 15 working parents who read the study information sheet before collecting data (see Appendix B).

I created a social media post specifically for groups of parents in the urban area of the Southeastern United States who met the criteria of my study, such as having children in virtual schools and invited them to participate (see Appendix C). The social media post provided an overview of the study, including the topic of the study, the design, and the duration of individual and focus group interviews. Participants who met the criteria for the study were asked to contact

me to provide their contact information so I could follow up and schedule an interview (see Appendix C). Also, screening questions were used to ensure the participants met the criteria of the study (see Appendix D).

Researcher Positionality

My motivation for conducting this study stemmed from my experience as a working parent of school children who transitioned to virtual learning during the pandemic and the challenges that occurred because of the transition. Consequently, I desired to know if some of the challenges I witnessed persist in the lives of working parents of middle school children in the urban area of the Southeastern United States post-pandemic. Also, I sought to know the parents' motivation for choosing to continue with online learning modality for their children after in-class learning resumed, and if findings from my study could expose and lead to more effective solutions for those parents. I value exposing areas of deficiencies and recommending solutions. Researchers always bring their values, assumptions, and beliefs that influence what they choose to research and how to achieve it (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This section will further discuss the values, assumptions, and beliefs in the interpretive frameworks and philosophical assumptions sections.

Interpretive Framework

The interpretive framework that guided my research is post-positivism. Post-positivist researchers seek to study constructs through a series of logically related steps that lead to obtaining different perspectives from the participants, which involves rigorous data collection and analysis (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This interpretive framework is structured and includes identifying the problem of the study, generating questions relevant to the topic, collecting data,

obtaining the results, and writing the conclusions from the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Therefore, the objective of a researcher using a postpositivist framework is to acquire answers related to the topic or construct being investigated from the realities of multiple participants and rigorously analyze the data (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Consequently, my study aimed to seek answers to the research questions that would reveal the post-COVID-19 experiences of working parents of middle school children who continued education online after the pandemic restrictions to in-person learning were removed. As a result, the questions of this study asked parents of middle school students, school representatives, and family members to explore their actions to meet their children's educational needs in online learning modalities post-pandemic. My goal is to add to the body of knowledge.

Philosophical Assumptions

There are philosophical assumptions influencing my choice for this study, my view of the world, and, ultimately, the experiences of my study participants. These assumptions include the ontological, epistemological, and axiological. The three assumptions are discussed below.

Ontological Assumption

Ontological assumption involves how people view reality differently (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The ontological assumption I employed in my study is postpositivism. Postpositivist researchers employ a scientific approach to research inquiry, which involves taking logical steps and the views of different individuals toward determining the existence or lack thereof of a problem, even when prior knowledge of the issue exists (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Similarly, I believe in taking logical steps to investigate a problem and getting different people's views before concluding, even though I may have prior knowledge of the situation, such as the

challenges during the pandemic. Furthermore, I anticipated that I would experience the diverse views of the study participants during the research because I believe people view things differently and exhibit multiple realities (Moustakas, 1994). Therefore, my goal was to report the different realities of the participants in the study. How a participant sees or interprets the construct under study could differ from how another participant views the same construct or questions about the inquiry, leading to different themes emerging from the research data or findings. Consequently, I reported on those different themes and the resulting perspectives on the research questions of my study.

Epistemological Assumption

Epistemological assumption involves what is regarded as knowledge, the rationale for claims made about knowledge, and the relationship that exists between the researcher and the construct under study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Since evidence obtained from research participants is subjective, I bracketed out any bias or rationale that could affect the research findings and was open to gaining new perspectives from the participants' experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I ensured that the research findings accurately reflected the participants' viewpoints on the construct (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I used direct quotes to guide readers to participants' lived experiences while interpreting the participant message with great understanding due to the close relationship I built with my participants through time spent in one-on-one and focus group interviews (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Axiological Assumption

Axiological assumption pertains to my values' role or effects on the research study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). As a researcher, my values could affect my interpretations of the

findings. My belief centers on providing people with the motivation and support they need to succeed. I also advocate for extending such support to individuals who care for others and play a vital role in the success of those under their care. However, I did not allow these values to cause bias or affect the accurate reporting of the research findings. My plan to avoid bias was achieved by bracketing any values or beliefs affecting the research and being open to a fresh perspective on the construct under investigation (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Moustakas, 1994). Also, I was aware that my experiences or knowledge of challenges that parents experienced during the pandemic may be different for the participants in the post-COVID-19 era. Therefore, bracketing opinions, biases, or perceptions surrounding the research topic has been found effective in helping researchers engage in research inquiries devoid of their own bias in interpreting the study's findings (Moustakas, 1994).

Researcher's Role

A researcher plays a role in the research as a human instrument (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Therefore, I was mindful of any biases or assumptions that could influence the study and made them known or bracketed them by being open to gaining new insights from participants' experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Moustakas, 1994). It was also essential to state why I was conducting this study. My desire to explore this study came from news reports that some parents have chosen to continue their children's education virtually after in-person classes resumed. I have no known conflicts of interest in the research on the post-pandemic experience of working parents juggling their work and children's online schooling. However, I experienced some of the known challenges working parents experienced during the pandemic due to children learning online. I bracketed those experiences, assumptions, and biases I may have to discover fresh

perspectives from the parents experiencing this phenomenon in the post-COVID-19 era. Also, I did not know any participants or work with the school district where the participants live.

Procedures

Obtaining the necessary permissions before beginning a research study or collecting data is a significant factor in developing an ethical analysis (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 1990). Before obtaining data from participants, I sought Liberty University's IRB approval to use human subjects in my research (see Appendix A). After obtaining the IRB approval, I recruited participants. Participants were recruited through social media, and the post was posted in groups located in an urban area in the Southeastern United States with parents who have children learning online (see Appendix C). The setting for my research was an urban area in the Southeastern United States. As a result, there was no request for site permission because the participants for my study were not recruited from a school or a specific organization. Participants were asked to contact me and provide their contact information for follow-up if they were interested in participating in the study. Participants who contacted me were further screened to ensure that they met the criteria of the study (see Appendix D)

Before scheduling any interviews or collecting data, the study information sheet was sent to parents who decided to participate in the research to read about the study and their rights (see Appendix B). The study information sheet provided information on my research such as the topic, the rights of participants to consent to participate in the study, the participants' rights to withdraw from the study at any stage of the study, whom to contact at Liberty University if participants encountered any issues or desired to report any concerns, how the data collected

through interviews would be stored, and the steps that would be taken to protect participants' identities.

. Once the study information sheet form was received, I scheduled a 30-60-minute interview with individual participants and a 90-minute focus group interview. Interviews were conducted through Zoom, a teleconferencing tool as detailed in the data collection plan section. The interviews were transcribed verbatim, and the data was analyzed for similar and dissimilar themes according to the steps in the data analysis section. This study obtained triangulation through obtaining data from individual interviews, a focus group, and document analysis, specifically, schools' documents of support provided to parents (van Manen, 1990). Participants who took part either in a one-on-one audio-recorded Zoom interview or in a Zoom audio-recorded focus group interview were given a \$50 Visa gift card as compensation for participating in the study. The transcript of the interview was provided to the participants for member-checking to verify the accuracy of the information obtained during the interview, which took about 15 minutes to complete.

Data Collection Plan

Collecting data is essential to a research study and can be meticulously achieved through different forms (Creswell, 2013; Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 2014, 2016; Yin, 2014).

Obtaining various data sources allows for better data triangulation (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 2014, 2016; Yin, 2009). As a result, this study employed three data collection methods. These methods included individual interviews, a focus group, and document analysis. Individual interviews were conducted first to gain individual participant perspectives as each parent described the experienced phenomenon (van Manen, 2016). Next, the focus group was

conducted to allow participants the opportunity to exchange ideas and recall additional perspectives of their experiences (van Manen, 2016) working while choosing to continue remote education for their middle school student. Finally, document analysis was further used to support triangulation of the data by exploring the notifications of school support and collaboration with parents toward remote learning provided by schools for remote students and families (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This section of the chapter further explored the data collection plans for each method.

Individual Interviews

Interviews were used as the main source of qualitative inquiry to gather data for my research study, which provided opportunities to gain a deeper understanding of the phenomenon (van Manen, 2016; Yin, 2009). Data gathering through interviews provided the opportunity or avenue for me to gather information and comprehend the phenomenon that pertained to the participants (Brinkmann & Kvale, 2015; Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 2016). The interview also allowed the study participants and me to interact socially one-on-one (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Consequently, I was aware of the appropriate place for my interviews physically to allow for confidentiality and modality to support the feasibility and accessibility of the interview to be conducted (van Manen, 2016). I was friendly with the participants to win their trust. I scheduled a conducive time for the interview, allowed enough time for the interview, maintained focus on the post-pandemic experiences of the parents of middle school children and the research questions, and recorded the interviews (van Manen, 2016). Additionally, the interviews were conducted with the parents via Zoom one-on-one for 30 - 60 minutes. The interview was semi-structured, using open-ended questions that began with what, why, and how,

which generated answers to the research phenomenon and allowed for follow-up questions based on the responses from the participants (Rubin & Rubin, 2012) and evaluated by expert reviewers before conducting the interview. Additionally, the interview was recorded using a Zoom recorder. The individual interview questions follow.

Table 2

Individual Interview Questions

- Please describe your experiences as a working parent of a middle school child in a remote learning environment from the first year to the current year. CRQ
- How do you support your remote learning child's needs outside of the classroom requirements? SQ1
- 3. As a working parent, what do you do to ensure that your child is learning the concepts of the school subject? SQ1
- 4. What communication approaches do you use with your remote learning child to explore their educational experience? SQ1
- Describe how the school initiates communication regarding your child's academic progress. SQ2
- Describe the kind of communication you utilize in connecting with your child's school.
 SQ2
- 7. What resources does your child use to be successful in the remote learning classroom?
 SQ2
- 8. What social resources does the school provide to your remote learning family? SQ3

- What challenges do you experience in providing social outlets for your remote-learning child? SQ3
- 10. Describe the opportunities your child receives in co-curricular activities as a remote learner, such as physical education, art, media center, and music. SQ3
- 11. In what ways does your extended family support your decision to continue remote learning? SQ4
- 12. Describe how your family's attitude toward remote learning has changed over time. SQ4
- 13. Describe your extended family's involvement in your remote learning child's experience.
 SQ4
- 14. What else would you like to add to our conversation today about remote learning that we have not already discussed? CRQ

The interview questions were developed to provide data for answering the post-pandemic experiences of working parents with children in online learning. Further, the interview questions also provided answers based on the theoretical framework of this study in determining the interaction of the forces in the microsystem, such as family, school, and community, that are instrumental in the successful development of a child. Bronfenbrenner (1979) viewed the microsystem as the most impactful level of relationship in a developing child's life as it involves the immediate settings with which the child identifies, such as family or home, neighborhood, peers, and the school where the child attends.

Focus Group

I conducted a focus group interview for my study because focus groups provide an avenue for the researcher to interact with different study participants simultaneously and

encourage participants to talk about the construct under study (Creswell, 2013; Creswell & Poth, 2018). Also, it gave me the ability to analyze statements made by participants as ideas were exchanged (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Frey & Fontana, 1991; van Manen, 1990). Furthermore, focus group interviews also led to better data triangulation or allowed me to compare answers shared in individual interviews (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 1990; Yin, 2009). However, it was essential to ask questions about my study, keep timing, ask follow-up questions, and pay attention to people not answering questions like others in the group (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 1990). The focus group interviews were conducted via Zoom at an agreed-upon time. The interviews were 60–90 minutes and recorded using Zoom's recorder. All participants were invited to participate in the focus group. I began the focus group interview by developing a sense of rapport with my participants. Then, I engaged in the focus group questions beginning with the first question and explored opportunities for follow-up questions. After each question was answered, I closed the meeting asking if anyone had additional information they would like to add that had not already been shared. All focus group questions were evaluated by field experts. See Table 3 for the focus group questions.

Table 3

Focus Group Questions

- 1. What is the most challenging part of supporting your remote learner? SQ1
- 2. What do you value most about the remote learning modality? SQ1
- 3. What is the school's most helpful resource to support your remote learner? SQ2
- Describe the cadence of communication that has been the most helpful in supporting the remote learning process. SQ2

- 5. What is the most effective social program the school has provided to support your child's remote learning? SQ3
- 6. What are two recommendations you would give to improve the remote learning experience? SQ3
- 7. What has been the most helpful support for your remote learner that you have received from extended family members? SQ4
- 8. What are the most significant challenges you have receiving support from family as a working parent of a remote learner? SQ4
- 9. What else would you like to add to our conversation today about remote learning that we have not already discussed? CRQ

Each focus group question was chosen based on the factors of the study's theoretical framework in determining the interaction of the forces in the microsystem, such as family, school, and community, that are instrumental in the successful development of a child as well as the benefit of the strength of the relationships in the exosystem and meso system.

Bronfenbrenner (1979) viewed the microsystem as the most impactful level of relationship in a developing child's life as it involves the immediate settings with which the child identifies, such as family or home, neighborhood, peers, and the school where the child attends. Furthermore, more data or information could be obtained from participants in a focus group interview that may not be divulged in a one-on-one interview (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Krueger & Casey, 2014; Morgan, 1997).

Document Analysis

Document analysis is among the different forms of research data, and it is important

when using documents as a means of data collection to identify the type that is pertinent to the research study (Bogdan & Biklen, 2006; Crewell & Poth, 2018). It is also important to seek permission to view documents that may not be readily available to outsiders or for public consumption, especially those belonging to an organization (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Therefore, I requested and analyzed documents such as school support documents that detailed the plans that school leaders put in place to support parents and their remote learning families. The documents were electronic copies. Documents were requested at the beginning of the data collection process (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Table 4

Document Analysis Form

Data Analysis

Data analysis is an important part of the research process after gathering data (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 2016). The data analysis section detailed plans for the analysis of data that was gathered for this study. The plan for analyzing individual interviews, focus groups, and

document analysis was discussed. Furthermore, synthesizing the data from the three sources of data collected for this study was addressed.

Individual Interview Data Analysis Plan

The success of analyzing data involves making adequate early preparation starting from the beginning of the study (Bazeley, 2013; van Manen, 2016). Furthermore, Wilcott (1994) provided a guide to data analysis, such as identifying some information when describing it, identifying dissimilar themes or patterns, and displaying findings using tables and graphs, and interpreting the meanings of participants' lived experiences (van Manen, 1990). Writing memos or memoing findings has provided a more precise picture or understanding of participants' statements in the transcribed interviews (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Miles et al., 1994; van Manen, 1990). The data collected from this research was stored on a removable disk and kept in a safe drawer inaccessible to others. The data was transcribed verbatim and read several times, and then shared with the participants to confirm the accuracy of their responses before coding it to gain an understanding of the information (Bazeley, 2013; Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 1990) and interpreting the findings based on the data gathered from the participants (van Manen, 1990). All identifiers were removed to conceal the participants' identities (Creswell & Poth, 2018). While reading the interview transcripts, I took notes or kept a memo of ideas that came to mind to avoid forgetting important information (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The data was then coded or put into categories to identify general similar themes (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 1990). Furthermore, the themes derived from the codes were interpreted as I am expected to draw meaning from the data I gathered (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; van Manen, 1990) and then synthesize and report the findings (Bazeley, 2013; Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen 1990).

Focus Group Data Analysis Plan

The data collected from the recorded focused group interview was transcribed verbatim (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Transcribing interviews verbatim helps to avoid ethical issues of misrepresenting participants' words (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 2016). Therefore, the transcribed interview was read several times and then shared with the participants to confirm the accuracy of their responses before coding it to gain an understanding of the information (Bazeley, 2013; Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 1990) and interpreting the findings based on the data gathered from the participants (van Manen, 1990).

The transcribed data is stored on a removable disk and kept in a safe drawer inaccessible to others. All identifiers were removed to conceal the participants' identities (Creswell & Poth, 2018). While reading the interview transcripts, I took notes or kept a memo of ideas that come to mind avoiding forgetting important information (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The data was then coded or put into categories to identify general similar themes (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 1990). Furthermore, the themes derived from the codes were interpreted as I am expected to draw meaning from the data I gathered (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; van Manen, 1990) and then synthesize and report the findings (Bazeley, 2013; Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen 1990). These steps in the data analysis process showed the process's deliberate nature and the relationships between the various aspects of a research study (Huberman & Miles, 1994).

Document Analysis Data Analysis Plan

After obtaining the documents of school support for online learning from the parents, I read the documents and took notes to help identify codes or themes relevant to the research study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The identified codes or themes were categorized. I also assessed if the

information in the documents aligned with the information obtained through the interviews and focus groups. The documents obtained for analysis were stored in a locked drawer in my residence to protect the data from unauthorized access. Any information that could lead to exposing the identity of the participants was removed (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Properly storing participants' information is important to protect the participants' identities and avoid ethical issues or harm that could affect the participants (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Data Synthesis

Synthesizing data is an essential part of research, especially considering the overwhelming nature of making sense of the copious amount of data a researcher obtains during the research process (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Patton, 1980; van Manen, 2014). Therefore, synthesizing the findings from the one-on-one interviews, focus groups, and document analysis would avoid duplicating themes or codes (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 2014). The codes and themes obtained from the transcribed interviews and document analysis enabled the comparison of similar codes and themes and excluded duplicates. Also, it is important to consider codes that emerged from comparing the research data (Creswell & Poth, 2018, van Manen, 2014). I ensured that I used lean coding to identify categories of themes and the themes that were part of the findings that answered the research questions (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen 2014). Furthermore, the identification of the codes and themes were done manually to become further engaged in the communication presented by my participants to support a sense of closeness (van Manen, 2014).

Trustworthiness

Four criteria determine the trustworthiness of a research study. This study achieved trustworthiness through these four qualities: credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability (Creswell & Poth, 2013; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Additionally, different aspects of this study contributed to the trustworthiness of this research study.

Credibility

Credibility involves the accuracy of research findings or interpretations (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). One of the ways in which the credibility of research findings is achieved is through data triangulation. Data triangulation is using different data sources in a research study to corroborate or confirm the information from the various data sources (Creswell, 2013). This study used one-on-one interviews, a focus group, and document analysis to achieve triangulation. Furthermore, the participants were asked to check the transcribed interviews and confirm the information they provided during the interview. Member checking of the transcribed interviews increases the credibility of the findings (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

Transferability

Transferability addresses the external validity of the study findings or the generalizability of the study to other settings or similar settings (Creswell, 2013; Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

However, only the readers of the research findings can determine its transferability based on the information a researcher provides (Creswell, 2013; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). As a researcher, I helped the readers to determine the transferability of the study results by describing the findings (Creswell & Poth, 2018). A thick and rich description provides a clear picture or description of the setting, participants, data, and the phenomenon the participants are experiencing, which could

help them make that determination (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Furthermore, transferability can be addressed by describing general ideas to more specific concepts, interconnecting details from the study, and using participant quotes (Creswell, 2013; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). As a result, this study used participants' quotes to describe and give a first-hand account of their experiences as working parents of online learners in the post-pandemic era. This study aimed to add to the body of knowledge by potentially allowing future researchers the opportunity to build on the study, apply the study findings to other contexts, and extend the theoretical basis of this study.

Dependability

Dependability shows consistency in the findings and the ability to replicate them (Lincoln & Guba, 2018; Patton, 2015). I kept the audit trail of the research data, such as recorded and transcribed interviews. I also organized the memos or notes taken during rereading and data analysis (Lincoln & Guba, 2018). Also, Liberty University's dissertation committee and the director of qualitative research thoroughly audited the research process and findings.

Confirmability

Confirmability reveals the authentic nature of the research without any additions or exclusions of what was found during the study (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Patton, 2015). A researcher can achieve this by using direct quotes from the participants, as it is essential to hear the participants' voices in qualitative research (Creswell, 2013; Creswell & Poth, 2018). The triangulation of data from the three sources of data collection, such as individual interviews, focus groups, and document analysis, and keeping an audit trail of the recordings and notes led to confirmability. Additionally, I provided the transcribed interviews to the participants to confirm

the accuracy of the data based on the answers they provided. This is called member checking, which lends credence to the truthfulness of the transcribed data (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

Ethical Considerations

Before starting the study or collecting data, I obtained IRB approval from Liberty University. Identifying information such as names of participants and the setting or specific location of the study were not revealed or used. Pseudonyms were used instead to protect their confidentiality. Participants were informed of the voluntary nature of the study. They were also informed of their rights as participants to participate or decline participation before the study started or at any time during the study, and who to contact in the event of any issue, which was all on the study information sheet.

Participants were informed of the benefits of participating in the study. This participation would help the readers and me comprehend the experiences of working parents of middle school children attending classes online in the post-pandemic era. Furthermore, participating in the study could reveal if challenges experienced during the pandemic have been resolved or if issues still need to be resolved. The participants were also informed of the risk of being identified or exposed, especially by participating in the focus group interview. However, participants were advised to adhere to the confidentiality of other participants' identities (Crewell & Poth, 2018). Data collected from research participants is password-protected and stored in a locked cabinet. All data from the research study will be destroyed after three years of the study.

Permissions

Before conducting this research study, I obtained Liberty University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval to involve human subjects in my research (see Appendix A).

However, I did not need site permission because my potential research participants were not pooled from any specific school. Instead, the participants were recruited through a social media post (see Appendix C), and participants interested in participating in the study were emailed the study information sheet before the interviews (see Appendix B). The study information informed the participants of what the study entailed, their right to participate or decline to participate, and who to contact when they have questions about the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Other Participant Protections

Participants were asked to share personal information such as their names. Therefore, I used pseudonyms to protect research participants' identities. They were also provided with the study information sheet, which detailed information on the study, participants' right to participate and withdraw from the study at will, and Liberty University contact information in the event participants had concerns or questions they could not discuss with me (see Appendix B). Printed data or transcripts of interviews are stored in a locked cabinet, and the electronic files of such data are password-protected to avoid unauthorized access. Another ethical consideration I was mindful of was conflict of interest. I avoided sharing my experience as a working mother of school children who learned virtually during the pandemic so that I do not influence participants' answers on their post-COVID-19 virtual school experience.

Summary

In summary, this chapter presents the qualitative hermeneutic phenomenological study design to explore the lived experiences of working parents of middle school children in remote learning environments. The chapter explains my positionality about the philosophical assumptions and the interpretive frameworks that could affect the interpretation of the findings in

this study. Furthermore, data collection methods such as one-on-one interviews, focus group interviews, and document analysis were explained. Additionally, Chapter Three details how each data collection method was analyzed. Finally, chapter three ended with exploring the trustworthiness of the findings and ethical considerations surrounding this research inquiry.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

The purpose of this phenomenological study is to understand the post-COVID-19 online learning modality experiences for parents of middle school children in an urban area in the Southeastern United States. This chapter begins with a brief description of the participants. The chapter proceeds with the presentation of findings in narrative themes and sub-themes derived from semi-structured individual and focus group interviews and documents outlining support provided by the children's school to online learning families. Furthermore, it includes responses addressing the research questions. Finally, a summary concludes the chapter.

Participants

This study's participants included two men and 10 women. All participants identified as Black except one female who identified as White. The participants reported their area of residency as an urban area in the Southeastern region of the United States. In addition, each participant reported having a middle school-aged child who transitioned to online learning during the pandemic and continued online after in-class learning resumed. The participants ranged in age from 24 to 44 years and were employed in different work modalities such as remote, hybrid, and in-office. A description of the participants is provided in the next section of this chapter, in addition to a table that provides a summary of the participant demographics (see Table 11).

Amy

Amy is a 25 to 34-year-old Black woman who lives in an urban area in the Southeastern region of the United States. She is divorced and has two children. Amy's oldest child is a remote learner. However, her younger child resumed in-class learning after the pandemic restrictions

were lifted. Amy works part-time remotely, so she can better supervise her child. In addition, Amy reported putting her college career on hold rather than continuing her education due to personal reasons.

Joe

Joe is a 25 to 34-year-old Black man. He works full-time in a hybrid work modality as a data analyst. He is married with two children. Joe's wife works part-time remotely. Joe and his family live in an urban area in the Southeastern region of the United States and his oldest child attends school online. Joe reports that he is very involved in his son's online learning.

Dina

Dina is a 25 to 34-year-old Black woman who works fully remote part-time. Dina is a freelance writer who specializes in writing academic articles. She is also a transcriptionist. Dina is married to a psychologist who works full-time and partly remotely. Dina has a bachelor's degree and has only one child who schools online.

Olivia

Olivia is a 35 to 44-year-old Black woman. She has a bachelor's degree and works full-time hybrid. Olivia is a hotel manager and has been in that role for six years. She is a single mother of a 13-year-old daughter who is in middle school and attends school online.

Charlie

Charlie is a 25 to 34-year-old Black man. He works part-time remotely as a customer service representative. Charlie's wife works full-time in an in-person office setting. Charlie is very involved in his daughter's online education. In addition, since Charlie's parents live close to his residence, they are very involved in raising their grandchild. Charlie appreciates his parents'

involvement in his child's education, especially how they celebrate every academic progress and milestone his daughter achieves.

Erika

Erika is a 25 to 34-year-old Black woman who is a single mother of one child. She works full-time as an administrative assistant and lives in the Southeastern region of the United States. Erika has a great relationship with her mother and relies on her for help with her daughter's online education, especially as she works in the office.

Jane

Jane is a 25 to 34-year-old White woman who works remotely and is married. She has two children who go to school online. Jane chose to work remotely so that she could better monitor her children's online education. Jane engages in a lot of research to find supplemental educational materials to support her remote learners.

Lily

Lily is a 35 to 44-year-old Black woman. Lily works full-time remotely as a data analyst and is married. Lily and her husband have two children. Lily's children were learning online during the pandemic and continued learning in the same modality after pandemic restrictions were lifted. The decision to continue online learning for her children stems from Lily and her husband's desire to help the children improve academically.

Mia

Mia is a 25 to 34-year-old Black woman with a bachelor's degree. She is an administrative coordinator who works full-time in the office and has been doing so for four

years. Mia is a single mother with a 13-year-old daughter. Her daughter is in middle school and currently attends school online.

Ella

Ella is a 25 to 34-year-old Black woman and a college graduate. She is a nurse and works full-time in a doctor's office. She is married with two children. Ella's husband is employed full-time as well. Ella's children transitioned to online learning during the pandemic and continued in the same modality after in-class learning resumed.

Pat

Pat is a 35 to 44-year-old Black woman. She works full-time remotely and is married. Pat and her husband are blessed with three children. Two of Pat's children resumed in-class learning after the pandemic restrictions were lifted, while her 12-year-old schooled remotely. Pat and her husband decided to keep her middle school-aged child in remote learning to be more focused and improve academically.

Leah

Leah is a 25 to 34-year-old Black woman. She works as an insurance sales agent and works part-time remotely. Also, Leah is a single mother and has three children. Leah's oldest child schools online, and the younger ones have not started school yet. Leah mentioned that she works part-time online so she could supervise them.

Table 5Participants

	Age	Parent Work	Children		
Participants	Range	Modality	Marital Status	Learning Mode	Race
Amy	25-34	Remote	Single	Online	Black
Joe	25-34	Hybrid	Married	Online	Black
Dina	25-34	Remote	Married	Online	Black
Olivia	35-44	Hybrid	Single	Online	Black
Charlie	25-34	Remote	Married	Online	Black
Erika	25-34	In-office	Single	Online	Black
Jane	25-34	Remote	Married	Online	White
Lily	35-44	Remote	Married	Online	Black
Mia	25-34	In-office	Single	Online	Black
Ella	25-34	In-office	Married	Online	Black
Pat	35-44	Remote	Married	Online	Black
Leah	25-34	Remote	Single	Online	Black

Results

The results from this study include the identified themes and sub-themes that emerged from the individual interviews, focus group, and document analysis on the lived experiences of working parents of middle school-aged children in online learning in the post-pandemic era. Five themes and 11 sub-themes were identified. One outlier was also described. The results are presented in detail in the next section of this chapter (see Table 13)

Table 6

Themes & Subthemes

Theme	Subthemes		
Adaptation	Psychological Adaptation	Physical Adaptation	Lingering Challenges
Parental Obligation	Supervision	Child Well-being	
Academic Achievement	Concern for Academic Progress	Parental Satisfaction	
Communication	Mode of Communication	Communication Approach	
Support	School Support	Family Support	

Adaptation

Adaptation to the reality of participants' children's continuation of online learning after the pandemic is a prevalent theme among the participants' lived experiences. Participants often described the necessity of work-life balance with their children's online education. Participants expressed that they were psychologically and physically adapting to life after the pandemic. One participant, Ella, stated, "We have adapted to the challenges, so it's not a big deal like the first time." Also, verbs, adjectives, and phrases such as adjusted, coped, easier, better, easy, adapted, and "gotten used to it" were used to describe their present realities. These realities have both psychological and physical dimensions. Although almost all the participants seemed to have adapted, lingering challenges continue to be part of their daily lives like meeting the demands of work and supporting their online learners.

Psychological Adaptation

Participants expressed views on their post-pandemic psychological adjustment as working parents of schoolchildren learning virtually. This is due to the time between when the pandemic hit and now. It is also a result of accepting the fact that the experience is no longer novel. Therefore, their mental adjustment has helped the parents cope better. Jane also said, "It was a tiresome experience because I had to multitask. Now, I can say, it's no more tiresome."

Physical Adaptation

In addition to psychological adaptation, almost all participants mentioned that they have adjusted or are now coping better with the physical demands of working and having children who are schooling online. Parents can do their jobs, have time for their activities, and assist the children with school responsibilities. For instance, Joe shared, "We have had better flexibility in terms of scheduling and pacing, and allowing us to be able to align our child's education to our own, individual needs."

Lingering Challenges

Parents also expressed that they have faced the same challenges they experienced during the pandemic despite revealing that they had adapted to them. Eleven out of the 12 participants mentioned that they are still experiencing some challenges juggling work and children's online education. Ella stated, "Sometimes we do face technical issues. Internet connection might be poor." Even further, Jane shared, "It is hard to assist my child with homework when I don't understand the subject." Amy also shared her perception of lingering challenges when working during the same time as her child is required to be at school online, "It's [the lingering challenges] supervising the child, especially when you're at work."

Parental Obligation

Participants discussed elements of parental obligation. All the parents mentioned the need for and importance of being involved and engaged in helping their children as they continue in online learning. Mia said, "As a working parent, you know I have to go work. So, I ensure that [my child] attends classes when I am at work, making sure that she's in class, she's participating without the games, without any distractions." Also, the parent participants shared the need to perform those duties despite being working parents and the challenges they sometimes experience in creating social activities for their children. Lily mentioned, "Time is my challenge," when planning to create social activities for her child. Two sub-themes emerged from the lived experiences of my participants surrounding parental obligation: supervision and child well-being.

Supervision

Parents discussed the need to supervise and monitor their children as they continue online learning in the post-pandemic era. Parents see the need to monitor their children's learning to correct unwanted behaviors. They also supervise to ensure that the child is concentrating in class. Olivia said, "I'm monitoring him as much as they are being taught online. Yeah, as parents, we have to be there." Dina also mentioned that she monitors her child to ensure he is paying attention in class.

Child Well-being

Parents were concerned about the well-being of their children in the online learning environment after the pandemic. They wanted to ensure that no major issues could affect the child's ability to stay focused or motivated to learn. Parents also wanted to know if their child

had any concerns so they could help resolve the issues. Amy reported, "I ask questions about his well-being. I asked if he enjoyed the lesson and how it was. I just make sure that you know he's open to telling me his experience, and how he felt during classes."

Academic Achievement

Academic achievement was a salient theme that the study participants discussed. All 12 participants mentioned how their child was doing in virtual learning. Parents discussed their concern for their children's academic progress and their satisfaction with the progress the children are making academically. Consequently, they review their children's assignments to ensure they complete class and homework. Joe said, "I go through his work to make sure that he has done maybe the assignment or he's following through with what the teacher told them."

Concern for academic progress and parental satisfaction with their children's academic progress emerge as sub-themes under this theme.

Concern for Academic Progress

Parents are concerned about their children's academic progress and are willing to offer help. As such, they make themselves available to give such assistance. Parents do this by sourcing materials that could help their children do well academically. Parents also gauge their children's understanding of materials taught in class through question-and-answer sessions. Furthermore, they assist their children with homework assignments and supplemental educational materials. Erika said, "When my child needs assistance with what she doesn't understand, I go out of my way to get enough materials for her."

Parental Satisfaction

Parents expressed satisfaction and pride in their children's academic success. This is because parents see the progress the children have made. Also, the parents know that the remote learning environment has not been detrimental to their children's academic progress. All participants mentioned being satisfied or happy with their children's academic progress in the online learning environment. Leah described her satisfaction with her child's progress, saying, "Irrespective of the fact that it's remote learning, my child's performance is still excellent, so we are fine with it."

Communication

Communication is beneficial in helping parents seek, obtain, give, and receive information from their children and teachers and was a common theme across the three data sources. Parents reported communicating with teachers and the school regularly using various mediums. Amy said in connecting with her child's school, "It's a regular update which involves email, or sometimes announcements about certain information or upcoming assignment and deadlines things that will be important to him...from their teacher." Furthermore, parents mentioned the approach to initiating communication with the children about their learning experience in the online classroom. Ella stated, "We normally communicate because having a face-to-face communication I'm always able to get immediate feedback from him, and I can also judge whatever he's saying by just observing his facial expressions." The mode of communication and communication approach are the identified sub-themes and discussed below.

Mode of Communication

Participants used different modes of communication to connect with their child's school. These modes of communication included emails and phone calls. Furthermore, these modes of communication allow parents to easily contact their children's schools when they need to make inquiries about their children's education. Olivia said, "If I want to inquire on anything I can. Also, I can send them emails. Apart from that, I can use their office number to call directly."

Communication Approach

All 12 participants mentioned the communication approach used to explore their child's learning experience. Parents engage in face-to-face communication with their children. They ask questions to obtain information on what they learned and if they comprehend what was taught in class. Dina described her approach as "Face-to-face communication. That is asking him what he learned, whether he understood, and asking him to maybe demonstrate for me what he was taught on that day."

Support

Parents value the support they receive from their children's school and extended family members. Support was also a prominent theme across all three data collection methods. All participants reported receiving both social and academic support from their children's schools to enable them to support their online learners. Parents found the support beneficial in helping them support their remote learning families. Charlie reported, "The school holds open events that provide us parents and caregivers an opportunity to meet with the teachers and then learn and understand the curriculum more and the academic expectations, and then ask questions about it."

However, only 10 out of the 12 participants stated that extended family members provided support. The two sub-themes generated from support are described below.

School Support

The social and academic support schools provide to parents is important in aiding parents to support their remote learners. All 12 participants specified the support their children's schools provided to them. Lily mentioned, "My child's school provides website and apps, educational apps for my child's learning... and art exhibition once a month and it's quite helpful."

Furthermore, Ella shared an email from her child's school detailing the support the school would provide to parents. On technical support, Ella's child's school stated that they would "provide information on technical support service available to troubleshoot issues..." However, despite parents' support from their children's schools, almost half of the participants want the schools to make some changes to improve the learning experience for their remote learning families. Lily would like to see an increase in the frequency of communication from her child's school from twice a month to "once a week." Moreso, Charlie advised, "I think the school should be flexible in their curriculum, allowing for adjustments. It's too structured for me."

Family Support

Family support was beneficial to the participants and their online learners. Most participants discussed the kind of support they received from family members. The extended family members helped supervise the children and gave words of encouragement. They also shared that family members were available to help. Furthermore, the parents discussed their appreciation for their extended family's support. Joe asserted, "My mother makes sure that the child attends class and concentrates when I'm not around. So, I would say, that's so beneficial."

Olivia also stated that she has family members who are "teachers" who provide support to her child.

Research Question Responses

Synthesized participant experiences provided answers to the research questions. This study included the central research question and four sub-questions. The answers reflect the themes identified after analyzing the data. In addition, direct quotes from the participants support the responses developed to each research question.

Central Research Question

What are the experiences of working parents of middle school children in remote learning environments? The participants' perspective is that they have adapted to the challenges experienced during the pandemic. Also, the experience is no longer new to them. As such, it is much easier now that the children have continued in remote learning post-pandemic. Furthermore, parents have been able to juggle work, home responsibilities, and the child's online education more effectively. Erika mentioned that it was difficult. Ella said, "Having a child in online school needs you to juggle meetings, deadlines, and household chores...it wasn't easy, but with time, I coped, and it's amazing." Also, Erika described her experience managing her child's online education and her work as "pretty challenging," but things are better now.

Sub-Question One

How do working parents respond to children's educational needs when learning remotely? The 12 participants revealed the importance of meeting the learning needs of their remote learners. Parents viewed the role as an obligation pertinent to children performing well academically. As a result, parents did whatever was necessary to ensure that they met the

learning needs of their children. Parents reported assisting their remote leaners with homework assignments and providing supplemental educational materials. Additionally, parents shared that they ensured their children have internet and learning tools or "laptops" to aid their learning. Joe asserted, "I make sure that the Internet connection is okay before joining class so that by the time my child is joining class, he doesn't experience challenges while attending class." Jane and Dina also mentioned that they use online resources to support their remote learners. Dina shared, "I use online resources to support my child's learning depending on the subject and the assignment."

Sub-Question Two

How do working parents experience school support for children's educational needs when learning remotely? Working parents believe that school support enables parents to help their remote learners succeed academically. Also, it provides a more seamless online learning experience for children. The support the schools provided included scheduled meetings. During those meetings, teachers give parents reports on their children's academic progress. Teachers also discuss with parents areas they need their partnership to improve their child's academic progress. Olivia mentioned, "We have the virtual parent-teacher meeting that we always hold, twice a week for the teachers to give us the updates on their progress and where we need to work on as parents."

Sub-Question Three

How do working parents meet the social needs of their children in a remote learning environment? Working parents take the social needs of their remote learners seriously. This is because the participants are concerned about the mental well-being of the children since there is

limited face-to-face social interaction. Also, parents deem it necessary to create social activities since the pandemic has ended. Therefore, parents find ways to allow their children to interact with friends. Olivia reported that she has created activities for her child to interact with friends since the pandemic is over. Amy guipped:

I make sure that I just don't cage him at home all the time. I make sure I allow him to interact with other children his age. I take him to the playground to have a good time and have fun with other people.

Sub-Question Four

How do working parents integrate familial support systems for remote learning children's educational needs? Parents reported receiving support from familial support. Ten out of the 12 participants received support from extended family members. Parents greatly welcomed and appreciated extended family members' support to assist their remote learners. Leah reported how her family supports her, "They call my child, encourage him, give him words of encouragement, and also help him with, you know, materials that he needs. They help with research and recommend learning sites." Also, Amy described her mother's support for her remote learner "My mom comes around to supervise my child when I'm not there. She talks to him and encourages him."

Summary

In summary, five themes emerged after analyzing the individual interviews, school documents, and focus group data on the experience of working parents of school children who continued learning online after the pandemic. The parents who participated in the study have adapted to their children learning online and believe it is easier juggling work and children's

online learning compared to the pandemic era. Parents feel obligated to supervise children's education and ensure their well-being. As a result, they were involved in their children's academic achievement and supported through helping with homework, creating social activities, and expressing satisfaction with the children's academic performance. Also, parents can communicate with their children's school through email or phone; parents use different communication approaches to gauge their child's learning. Furthermore, parents overwhelmingly received support from the children's school, and most of them received support from family members. However, most participants expressed facing some of the same challenges experienced during the pandemic, such as managing their time effectively, having internet issues, and worrying about their child getting distracted at home.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION

Overview

The purpose of this phenomenological study is to understand the post-COVID-19 online learning modality experiences for parents of middle school children in an urban area in the Southeastern United States. This chapter will include the interpretations of my study findings. Also, the implications for policy and practice, theoretical and methodological implications, limitations and delimitations of the study, and recommendations for future research will be discussed. Finally, a summary of this study is provided at the end of the chapter.

Discussion

The discussion section summarizes the themes generated from this study and discusses the findings relating to the developed themes. The interpretation of the findings in this section is also supported with empirical and theoretical sources. Furthermore, I discuss the implications for policy or practice, the limitations and delimitations of the study, and recommendations for future research.

Summary of Thematic Findings

The themes generated after data analysis show that the working parents of middle schoolaged children have adapted physically and psychologically to the challenges they experienced
during the pandemic regardless of some of the challenges they still face. Parents feel responsible
for supervising their children, creating social activities, and ensuring the children's
psychological, physical, and academic well-being. Furthermore, the participants' ability to
communicate with their children and the schools they attend helps them to discuss concerns and
receive feedback. Parents also value the support they receive from family members and their

children's schools, which positively affects their overall experience.

Interpretation of Findings

The hermeneutic phenomenology framework allows me to interpret the study findings (van Manen, 2014). Therefore, I provide three interpretations of my study's results. The interpretations include parental role expectations and adjustment, the importance of school support, and the appreciation for familial support.

Parental Role Expectations and Adjustment

Parents have internalized the expectations of their roles as they have adjusted physically and psychologically to the routine of working and supporting their remote learners in the post-pandemic era. Chirs said:

When the pandemic started, it was very difficult. My wife and I had to share the responsibilities of assisting our child. But now it has gotten better. We have a better rhythm juggling work responsibilities and our child's education.

Research has shown that parents become more comfortable fulfilling their duties or roles based on accepting their roles as parents and the expectations from others (Ilmanto et al., 2020; Roy & Giraldo-Garcia, 2018).

Furthermore, the experiences and challenges as widely researched during the pandemic (Ashbury et al., 2020; Bond, 2020; Bubb & Jones, 2020; Francom et al., 2021; Garbe et al., 2020; Huck & Zhang, 2021; Misirli & Ergulec, 2021; Trust & Whalen, 2021; Yazcavir & Gargur, 2021; Zuo et al., 2021) and navigating those challenges prepared the parents and enabled them to juggle work and their children's online learning post-pandemic. It also increased parental

engagement and involvement, which positively affects children's academic success (Gestwicki, 2007; Rymanowicz & Schulz, 2021; Sapungan & Sapungan, 2014).

Additionally, parents see the need to ensure their children's well-being by creating social activities for the children to socialize with friends, as parents are fundamental to the social-emotional and overall well-being of their children (Chen, 2022; Lessy et al., 2021; Ilmanto et al., 2020), and social isolation is detrimental to the mental well-being of children (Almeida et al., 2021; Misirli & Ergulec, 2021; Yazcavir & Gargur, 2021). Peter mentioned:

I ask my child and her friends about the activities they would like to do, and I create them. It is important that my child is interacting with her friends so that she won't feel bored or isolated socially.

Although the parents reported adapting to the challenges experienced during the pandemic, 11 out of the 12 participants mentioned lingering challenges such as Internet connection issues and time management among others. Olivia shared, "For me, it's a bit hard because I have to multitask with my work." However, the current challenges do not seem to be a huge burden or deter the parents from continuing their children's online education rather, they showed a sense of satisfaction and a great level of comfort. Jane mentioned that remote learning allows her to "manage their time." Peter said it gives his child "access to education from anywhere." Amy shared:

I would like to say that it's flexible. You know you have the time to talk to your child, especially when you feel he or she is not following. Also, you feel he's safe, especially in times like COVID-19. You have the reassurance that your child is okay.

Furthermore, the parents seem to exhibit parental self-efficacy (PSE). PSE is the belief that one has the competence and will be able to successfully perform parenting tasks (Bandura, 1977, 1997, 2002; Glatz et al., 2023), which, in this case, may have stemmed from the parents' ability to overcome those challenges due to similar experiences during the pandemic (Glatz et al., 2023). Nonetheless, almost 50% of the participants want to see some improvements and, as such, recommended changes that their children's schools could adopt to make their remote learning experience more seamless. Charlie wants to see a more "flexible curriculum." Lily desires "at least a weekly communication" cadence from her child's teacher, and Jane recommends that "teachers should give daily updates on the wellbeing of the child in case the parent is not able to monitor the kid's daily progress."

Importance of School Support

The support schools provide to parents can determine the level of satisfaction parents have toward the school (Al Hadhrami & Saadi, 2021; Yazcavir & Gargur, 2021), and the collaboration between the home and school is instrumental in the development of children (Borup et al., 2014; Borup et al., 2020; Bronfenbrenner, 1979). Parents in this study seemed very satisfied with the children's academic achievement and the support their children's schools provided them. This is because parents can easily communicate with their children's schools and teachers, and the schools have scheduled meetings with parents and provide educational assistance to them. Amy reported, "I communicate with my child's school through email and phone calls. They have a parent-teacher meeting that happens once a month. We discuss the progress of the child. The meeting is communicated through email." Another parent, Lily, said, "My child's school provides websites and apps, educational apps for my child's learning."

As a result of the support, parents feel confident in the school's ability to meet their remote learners' academic needs and assist them in supporting their children's online education. However, some participants desire changes from their children's school so they can have a better online learning experience. Amy said, "Everything is going well, but maybe the school should record class lessons and send it out so that in case a learner doesn't understand something very well, he or she can go back to it." This concern could be an implication for teachers' practice and school policy on recording class lessons, especially in schools that do not record class lessons.

Appreciation of Familial Support.

The presence of family support appears to be an important assistance that most of the participants experienced. It seems some of the parents may have asked extended family members to assist with their remote learners and are pleased with the support they receive. Ella said, "On days when I have lots of work, and I'm not able to make it home on time to be there for my child during class, my mom and sometimes my sisters fill in for me and give me reports on how he's learning.' Also, Charlie reported:

What my parents and extended family have done to help me is celebrating every milestone as my child progresses. They acknowledge and then celebrate every academic achievement and progress she makes. This goes a long way for her and us.

Research studies have shown that familial support has a positive effect on the academic progress of children (Chakraverty et al., 2018; Onuma et al., 2022).

Implications for Policy and Practice

This current research reveals some implications for parents, teachers, administrators, and school districts. The policy implications are discussed under the appropriate headings. Also, the

implications for practice are discussed accordingly.

Implications for Policy

There are implications for policy for school administrators and school districts. The findings from this study reveal areas that school administrators could look into. Likewise, there are areas that school districts could address. These areas involve school leadership that may involve policy changes and authority during an uncertain time, such as, the pandemic.

School Administrators. School administrators are responsible for providing leadership and supporting teachers, parents, and students to improve morale and academic outcomes. Administrators should continue to help teachers build on the successes that teachers have achieved with these parents and other parents in similar settings. School administrators could also encourage teachers to report concerns from parents that require their attention. For instance, some parents want their children's teachers to record and send class lessons to the students after class so they can review them to gain more clarity on what was taught in class. This may require policy change from school administrators if there is a policy against recording class lessons, which would enable teachers to do so and may improve the online learning experience for the families. However, if the policy change is beyond the authority of the school administrators, they could seek help and approval from their school district leaders, who may be responsible for changing the policy.

School Districts. The implication for school districts from this study is to address issues that school administrators may not have the authority to change or put in place. The areas of concern may require policy change from school districts. Recording class lessons may be within the school district's authority to permit schools permission to record. Additionally, school

districts should continue to provide the needed support to schools to enable them to improve the experience for online learning families.

Implications for Practice

Implications for practice exist for parents, teachers, and school administrators based on the results of this study. A closer look at each stakeholder's role and lessons learned is essential. These implications may enable the stakeholders to continue in areas of strength and improve where weaknesses exist. The implications are discussed in the following sections.

Parents. There are personal and institutional implications for working parents of online school children in this study, and it might be relevant to parents in similar settings. Parents need to understand that they may be unable to avoid the challenges or burdens that come with juggling work, home, and their children's online education. Some parents mentioned time management as an issue they are experiencing. Therefore, this could be an area for those parents and those experiencing the same issue to seek help on how to better manage time. Parents should also continue to lean on the support of extended family members, as most of them reported the benefit of familial support. Furthermore, parents may need to communicate concerns or any improvement they desire to the teachers so that they can address them if they are within their purview or report them to the school administrators if the concerns are beyond their authority. For instance, a parent recommended increasing the frequency of communication with her child's teacher to at least once a week. This is a concern that the teacher may be able to address.

Teachers. This study reveals implications for teachers. Parents have a unique role in bridging the gap between students, themselves, parents, and the school administrators. Therefore, teachers must maintain constant communication with parents and report any concerns they may

have about any students to their parents. Also, most of the parents appreciated the support they got from their children's teachers and school. However, some parents mentioned recording class lessons, making them available to students, and giving them daily progress reports on their children. Teachers could improve in those areas if they are lagging or if they can address those concerns. Furthermore, teachers should report concerns from parents that require resolution from school administrators.

School Administrators. School administrators can affect changes that teachers may not have the power to resolve. Consequently, the implication for them from this study is to continue to support teachers with any resources they need to effectively teach online learners and provide support to parents. Also, school administrators should be actively involved in demanding from teachers any concerns they may encounter in the online teaching environment as well as concerns from students and parents that require their attention. Doing so may enable school administrators to address those concerns promptly for the parents in this setting or other settings.

Empirical and Theoretical Implications

This study has both empirical and theoretical implications. The empirical and theoretical implications compare the findings' results with the pandemic literature and the theory that guided this research. Both implications are discussed in the following sections.

Empirical Implications

This study has empirical implications and has added to the existing body of research because the study has provided insights into the experiences of working parents of middle school children who continued in the online learning modality after the pandemic. Comparatively, the study's findings show that most parents have become accustomed to their children's online

learning and are not finding supporting their remote learners as difficult as during the pandemic (Ashbury et al., 2020; Bond, 2020; Bubb & Jones, 2020; Francom et al., 2021; Garbe et al., 2020; Huck & Zhang, 2021; Misirli & Ergulec, 2021; Trust & Whalen, 2021; Yazcavir & Gargur, 2021; Zuo et al., 2021). Also, parents are fully engaged and have the support of extended family members, which they did not experience during the pandemic (Gestwicki, 2007; Ilmanto et al., 2020; Roy & Giraldo-Garcia, 2018; Rymanowicz & Schulz, 2021; Sapungan & Sapungan, 2014).

Parents also have more support from their children's school, which they find satisfying compared to the support they received during the pandemic (Al Hadhrami & Saadi, 2021; Yazcavir & Gargur, 2021). Furthermore, most of the parents did not encounter difficulty organizing social activities for their children, unlike during the pandemic when social interaction was greatly limited (Ashbury et al., 2020; Bond, 2020; Yazcavir & Gargur, 2021). More so, the parents expressed satisfaction with the improved communication from the children's schools compared to the pandemic when some studies reported that parents did not receive satisfactory communication from the children's schools (Asbury et al., 2020; Yazcavir & Gurgur, 2021). However, it is important to note that this study did not uncover parents' concerns over the increased screen time compared to the issue during the pandemic (Armstrong, 2022; Carroll et al., 2020; Larivière-Bastien et al., 2022; Negata et al., 2020; Pandya & Lodha, 2021; Trabelsi et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2021) or concerns over the health of their children as widely reported during the pandemic (Rundle et al., 2020; Sultana et al., 2021; Trabelsi et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2021; Xiao et al., 2020;

Theoretical Implications

This study has theoretical implications because Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological systems theory, which guided this study, informed the problem of the study and provided the lens through which the research questions were developed. Analysis of the results shows that this study aligns with Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological systems theory, especially the micro and meso systems, which show the influence of the interaction of relationships in different settings such as family, community, and school on the development of an individual. Therefore, students can achieve academic progress with the help of teachers and school administrators to create the environment and form partnerships with parents (Taylor & Gabre, 2016), as evident in parents' satisfaction with their children's academic success and the support received from their children's schools in this study.

Also, another theoretical implication relates to school administrators acknowledging and encouraging the important roles parents play in strengthening the relationship or interaction between students and teachers (Hoover & Sandler, 1997; Taylor & Gebre, 2016) and the motivational benefit it could provide to students (Chiu et al., 2021; Zacolletti et al., 2020). This study revealed that parents initiated communication with their children's schools regularly and communicated with the children to glean information on their well-being. Furthermore, involved and engaged parents can have positive effects on children (Gestwicki, 2007; Rymanowicz & Schulz, 2021; Sapungan & Sapungan, 2014) such as increasing social interaction for the children by creating social activities for them as evidenced by the results of this study.

Limitations and Delimitations

This study has limitations and delimitations, providing insights into the researcher's

inclusion and exclusion criteria and variables beyond my control. Specifically, limitations are variables or aspects of a study that a researcher can control such as the type of population to study, the geographical location of the population, and the participants' age among others (Creswell &Poth, 2018; Miles, & Scott, 2017; Ross & Bibler, 2019). Delimitations are factors that a researcher excludes from the study like participants who failed to meet the age, geographical, or other pertinent requirements of the study (Miles & Scott, 2017). Future studies could address these limitations and delimitations. This section of the chapter reveals the limitations and delimitations.

Limitations

This study was limited by the small sample size and the geographical location because the study only included 12 participants who were chosen from only one geographical area of the United States. This study would be more generalizable if it included more geographical locations in the United States and other parts of the world since the pandemic was a global issue. Another limitation of the study was the race of the participants. Only one out of the 12 participants identified as White; the rest of the participants identified as Black. There is a possibility that the experiences of parents from other races may be different. Another major limitation of the study is not including the students in the study. As a result, the findings did not provide any first-hand account of the experiences of the children and could not determine if the children were happy with online learning in the post-pandemic era. This is an area that future studies could explore. The research did not consider the economic status of the participants or limit the participants to one type of work modality. Full-time, part-time, hybrid, and remote workers were included, and no unemployed parent was part of the study Future studies could investigate those areas.

Delimitations

This study was delimited to working parents of middle school-aged children who are 18 years or older, who live in an urban area in the Southeastern part of the United States, and whose children continued learning in an online modality after the pandemic. The study did not invite parents who were not working, did not have a child in middle school who transitioned to online learning during the pandemic and continued after in-class learning resumed, and did not live in an urban area in the Southeastern part of the United States The reason for choosing these parents is because there's a gap in the post-pandemic literature on the experiences of this class of parents. Therefore, it was important to research the parents' experiences after in-class restrictions were lifted. Also, I wanted to know how working parents support their online learners, how their children's schools support their remote learning families, how the parents meet the social needs of their children, and how they integrate familial support for their remote learning families. I gained valuable insights into the parents' experiences through the data collection.

Recommendations for Future Research

There are several recommendations based on the findings of this study. Future research studies should use a qualitative approach to recruit a larger sample size of working parents who are racially diverse and from different geographical locations to determine if that would yield similar or different results. Also, future studies could do a comparative analysis of the experiences of parents from low and high economic status whose children are schooling online. This may produce some interesting findings. A qualitative and case study approach could also be used to gain insights into the experiences of the students and teachers. Furthermore, a longitudinal study could be conducted with the same parents and students to determine if the

findings uncover changes in their experiences. Finally, a systematic review of all studies on this topic could be conducted to help the public know what is already known and what is not yet known about this topic.

Conclusion

In conclusion, a hermeneutic phenomenology approach was used in this qualitative research study to explore the lived experiences of working parents of school children who moved to online learning during the pandemic and continued in the same modality after pandemic restrictions were lifted. A review of pandemic research on parents' experiences found that parents of school children and schools experienced several challenges including the difficulty of juggling work and children's school, internet connectivity issues, and dissatisfaction with the support and communication from school, among others. After analyzing the data obtained from the interviews, results revealed that the working parents have adapted to the responsibilities of juggling work and their children's online education despite some lingering concerns. Also, parents report experiencing satisfaction with their children's academic progress due to the support from their children's school and extended family members; and are creating social activities for their remote learners. The results of the study align with Bronfenbrenner's ecological system theory, especially the micro and meso systems which show the effect the family and school have on a child's development. This study presents implications for parents, teachers, school administrators, and school districts to continue to build on areas of progress and make improvements where needed. Furthermore, future research studies should investigate the experiences of working parents using more racially diverse and larger sample size, include more

geographical areas, investigate parents of low and high economic status, and explore the experiences of students and teachers, which are limitations of this study.

References

- Abramson, A. (2021). Capturing the benefits of remote learning: How education experts are applying lessons learned during the pandemic to promote positive outcomes for all students. *Monitor on Psychology*, 52(6), 46.

 https://www.apa.org/monitor/2021/09/cover-remote-learning
- Abuhammad, S. (2020). Barriers to distance learning during the COVID-19 outbreak: A qualitative. review from parents' perspective. *Heliyon*, 6(11). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05482
- Almeida, I. L. L., Rego, J. F., Teixeira, A. C. G., & Moreira, M. R. (2021). Social isolation and its impact on child and adolescent development: a systematic review. *Revista paulista de pediatria : orgao oficial da Sociedade de Pediatria de Sao Paulo40*, e2020385.

 https://doi.org/10.1590/1984-0462/2022/40/2020385
- Andrew, A., Cattan, S., Costa Dias, M., Farquharson, C., Kraftman, L., Krutikova, S., ... & Sevilla, A. (2022). The gendered division of paid and domestic work under lockdown. *Fiscal Studies*, *43*(4), 325-340. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/1475-5890.12312
- Adams, G., & Todd, Margaret. (2020). Meeting the school-age childcare needs of working parents facing COVID-19 distance learning: Policy options to consider.

 Urban Institute.https://www.urban.org/research/publication/meeting-school-age-child-care-needsworking-parents-facing-covid-19-distance-learning
- Agaton, C.B., & Cueto, L.J. (2021). Learning at home: Parents' lived experiences on distance learning during COVID-19 pandemic in the Philippines. *International Journal of*

Evaluation and Research in Education, 10(3), 901-911.

https://doi.org/10.11591/IJERE.V10I3.21136

- Ahlström, B., Leo, U., Norqvist, L., & Isling, P. P. (2020). School leadership as (un)usual. insights from principals in Sweden during a pandemic. *International Studies in Educational Administration (Commonwealth Council for Educational Administration & Management (CCEAM)*), 48(2), 35-41. http://cceam.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/ISEA-2020-48-2.pdf#page=41
- Al Hadhrami, S.A., & Saadi, N.A. (2021). The advantages and challenges of e-Learning during COVID-19 pandemic in Omani schools from parents' perspectives of cycle two schools (5-9). *International Journal of Educational Technology and Learning*, 10(1), 26-39. https://doi.org/10.20448/2003.101.26.39
- Almahasees, K., Mohsen, K., & Amin, M.O. (2021). Faculty's perception of online learning During COVID-19. Frontiers in Education, 6. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/
 10.3389/feduc.2021.638470/full
- Amanor, N., Akrofi, O., Edonu, K.K., & Dowuona, E.N. (2020). Investigating the e-learning readiness of Ghanaian parents during COVID-19.

 European Journal of Education Studies 7(10).

 http://dx.doi.org/10.46827/ejes.v7i10.3275
- Amatori, S., Sisti, D., Perroni, F., Brandi, G., Rocchi, M. B. L., & Gobbi, E. (2022). Physical Activities sedentary behaviour and screen time among youths with Down syndrome during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 66(12), 903–912. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12933

- American Academy of Pediatrics screen time guidelines. (n.d.). https://www.aap.org/en/patient-care/media-and-children/center -of-excellence-on-social-media-and-youth-mental-health/
- An, H., Mongillo, G., Sung, W., & Fuentes, D. (2022). Factors affecting online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic: The lived experiences of parents, teachers, and administrators in U.S high needs k-12 schools. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, 8(2). 203-234. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1359227.pdf
- An, Y., Kaplan-Rakowski, R., Yang, J., Conan, J., Kinard, W., & Daughrity, L. (2021).

 Examining K-12 teachers' feelings, experiences, and perspectives regarding online teaching during the early stage of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 69(5), 2589–2613. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-021-10008-5
- Apriyanti, C. (2021). The role of parents in learning during the Covid-19 outbreak.

 International Journal of Education and Curriculum Apprication,

 4 (01). https://doi.org/10.31764/ijeca.v4i1.4237
- Archambault, L., & Larson, J. (2015). Pioneering the digital age of instruction: Learning from and about K-12 online teachers. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, *1*(1), 49-83. https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/174116/
- Archibald, M.M; Ambagtsheer. R.C., Casey, M.G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom video-conferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Armstrong, M. (2022). How has the pandemic affected children's screen time?

 https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/05/pandemic-children-screen-time/

- Asbury, K., Fox, L., Deniz, E., Code, A., & Toseeb, U. (2020). How is COVID-19 affecting the mental health of children with special educational needs and disabilities and their families? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04577-2a
- Aytaç, T., 2020. The Problems and Opinions of School Administrators during COVID-19

 Pandemic: A Qualitative Study from Turkey. *European Journal of Educational Sciences*,

 07(04), 1-23. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/348265117_
- Bakour, C., Mansuri, F., Johns-Rejano, C., Crozier, M., Wilson, R., & Sappenfield, W. (2022).

 Association between screen time and obesity in US adolescents: A cross-sectional analysis using National Survey of Children's Health 2016-2017. *PloS one*, *17*(12).

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0278490
- Balseviciene, C., & Sinkariova, L. (2013). The peculiarities of crises management in schools. *Pedagogika*, 110(2), 96-102. https://doi.org/10.15823/p.2013.1824
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change.

 *Psychological Review, 84(2), 191-215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Benassi, E., Vallone, M., Camia, M., & Scorza, M. (2020). Women during the

 C-19 lockdown: More anxiety symptoms in women with children than

 without children and role of the resilience. *Mediterranean Journal of Clinical Psychology*,

 8(3). https://doi.org/10.6092/2282-1619/mjcp-2559
- Bhamani, S., Makhdoom, A.Z., Bharuchi, V., Ali, N., Kaleem, S., & Ahmed, D.

 (2020). Home learning in times of COVID: Experiences of parents. *Journal of Education*and Educational Development, 7(1), 9-26. http://dx.doi.org/10.22555/joeed.v7i1.3260

- Bazeley, P. (2003). Qualitative Data Strategies: Practical strategies. Sage.
- Bol, T. (2020). Inequality in homeschooling during the corona crisis in the Netherlands. First \ results from the LISS Panel. https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/hf32q
- Bond, M. (2020). Schools and emergency remote education during the COVID-19 pandemic. A living rapid systematic review. *Asian Journal of Distance Education*, 15(2), 191-247. https://files.eric.ed.gov/ fulltext/EJ1285336.pdf
- Bogdan, R., & Biklen, S.K. (2006). *Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theories and methods* (5th ed.). Boston: Pearson.
- Borup, J., Graham, C. R., West, R. E., Archambault, L., & Spring, K. J. (2020). Academic communities of engagement: An expansive lens for examining support structures in blended and online learning. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 68, 807-832. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09744-x
- Borup, J., West, R. E., Graham, C. R., & Davies, R. (2014). The adolescent community of engagement framework: A lens for research on K-12 online learning. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 22, 107-129.
- Brik, A.B., Williams, N., Esteinou, R., Acero, I.D.M., Mesurado, B., Debeliuh, P., Storopoli, J.E., Orellana, O.N., & James, S.L. (2022). Parental mental health and child anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic in Latin America. *Journal of Social Issues*. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12523
- Brom, C., Lukavsky, J., Greger, D., Hannemann, T., Strakova, J., & Svaricek, R. (2020).

 Mandatory home education during the COVID-19 lockdown in the Czech Republic: A rapid survey of 1st-9th graders' parents. *Frontiers in Education*, 5, 103.

- https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/feduc.2020.00103/full?fbclid=IwAR1XjPY
- Bubb, S.; & Jones, M.A. (2020). Learning from the COVID-19 home-schooling experience: Listening to pupils, parents/carers, and teachers. *Improved Schools*, 23, 209–222.
- Bueno, C., 2020. Bricks and Mortar vs. Computers and Modems: The impacts of enrollment in K-12 virtual schools. *SSRN*, 01. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3642969
- Bunte, B., Robertson, E. & Clausen, J., 2020. Professional development to improve communication and reduce the homework gap in grades 7–12 during COVID-19 transition to remote learning. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 28(02), 443-451. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341882966
- Burkett, J.; & Reynolds, D. (2020). Pandemic policy preparedness: Unintentional student discrimination in the wake of COVID-19. *School Leadership Review*, *15*(1), 1-23. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=pandemic+policies&id=EJ1283674
- Bzour, M.I., Mispan. M.S., & Zuki., FM. (2022). Teacher, students, and parent experiences of virtual learning during the pandemic. *Schools. Studies in Education*, 19(1). 137-154. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=experiences+of+parents+of+high+school+students+ during+ the+pandemic&id=EJ1336528
- Camacho, A., Correia, N., Zaccoletti, S., & Daniel, JR. (2021). Anxiety and social support as predictors of student academic motivation during the COVID-19. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.644338
- Carbonilla, M., Kadusale, G., Lucero, R., & Pungyan, M. (2022). Parents' coping mechanism in conquering challenges towards distribution and retrieval of modules. *International*

- Journal of Multidisciplinary: Applied Business and Education Research, 3(7), 1249-1256. https://doi.org/10.11594/ijmaber.03.07.04
- Cardullo, V., Wang, C. H., Burton, M., & Dong, J. (2021). K–12 teachers' remote teaching self-efficacy during the pandemic. *Journal of Research in Innovative Teaching & Learning*. https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/JRIT-10-2020-0055/full/html
- Carroll, N., Sadowski, A., Laila, A., Hruska, V., Nixon, M., Ma, D.W., Haines, J., & Guelph Family Health Study. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on health behavior, stress, financial and food security among middle to high income Canadian families with young children. *Nutrients*, 12(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12082352
- Carson, V., & Janssen, I. (2012). Associations between factors within the home setting and screen time among children aged 0–5 years: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 12(1),539. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-539.
- Cavanaugh, C., & Deweese, A. (2020). Understanding the professional learning and support needs of educators during the initial weeks of pandemic school closures through search terms and content use. *Journal of Technology & Teacher Education*, 28(2), 233–238. https://learntechlib.org/primary/p/216073/
- Chakraverty, D., Newcomer, S. N., Puzio, K., & Tai, R. H. (2018). It Runs in the Family: The Role of Family and Extended Social Networks in Developing Early Science Interest.

 Bulletin of Science, Technology & Society, 38(3-4), 27-38.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0270467620911589
- Chen, G. (2020). Parental involvement is key to student success. https://publicschoolreview.com Christensen, R. & Alexander, C. (2020). Preparing K-12 Schools for a Pandemic Before It

- Occurs. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 28(2), 261-272. https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/216257/
- Cook, M. (2020). The Reality of Home-Based Learning. Journal of School Administration Research and Development, 5(S2), 86-92. https://doi.org/10.32674/jsard.v5iS2.2841
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2015). Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory. Sage.
- Crawford, M. (2020). Ecological systems theory: Exploring the development of the theoretical framework as conceived by Bronfenbrenner. *J Pub Health Issue Pract*, 4(2), 170. https://doi.org/10.33790/jphip1100170
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. & Poth, C. (2018) Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Sage.
- Crook, S. (2020). Parenting during the Covid-19 pandemic of 2020: Academia, labor and care work. Women's history review, 29(7), 1226-1238. https://doi.org/10.1080/09612025.2020.1807690
- Chiu, T.K.F., Lin, T., & Lonka, K. (2021). Motivating online learning: The challenges of COVID-19 and beyond. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 30(3), 187-190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-021-00566-w
- Daniel, S. J., 2020. Education and the COVID-19 pandemic. *Prospects*, 49(01), 91-96. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11125-020-09464-3
- Daniela, L., Rubene, Z., & Rūdolfa, A. (2021). Parents' perspectives on remote learning in the

- pandemic context. Sustainability 13 (7), 3640. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13073640
- DeCoito, I., & Estaiteyeh, M. (2022). Transitioning to Online Teaching During the COVID-19

 Pandemic: An Exploration of STEM Teachers' Views, Successes, and Challenges.

 Journal of Science Education and Technology, 31(3), 340–356.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-022-09958-z
- Deci, E.L., & Ryan, R.M.(1985). *Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-2271-7
- DeMathews, D., Billingsley, B., McLesky, J., & Sharma, U. (2020). Principal leadership for Students with disabilities in effective inclusive schools. *Journal of Educational*Administration, 55(5), 539-554. https://eric,ed.gov/?q=school+leadership+and+students
 +with+disabilities&ff1=dtySince_2020&id=EJ1264604
- Demir, E., & Demir, C.G. (2021). Investigation of parents' opinions about distance education during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education* 22 (2), 42-57. https://doi.org/10.17718/tojde.906485
- Denzin, N.K., & Lincoln, Y.S. (2011). *Introduction: The discipline and practice of qualitative* research (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Desforges, C., & Abouchaar, A. (2003). The impact of parental involvement, parental support and family education on pupil achievement and adjustment: A literature review.

 Department for Education and Skills.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/237274807_The_Impact_of_Parental_Involvem

ent_Parental_Support_and_Family_Education_on_Pupil_Achievements_and_Adjustment

_A_Literature_Review

- Diaz, K.M. (2020). Physical activities and sedentary behavior among U.S children with and without down syndrome: The national survey of children's health.

 *American Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 125(3), 230-242. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Keith-Diaz/publication/341094216
- Diliberti, M. K., Schwartz, H. L., & Grant, D. (2021). Stress topped the reasons why public-school teachers quit, even before COVID-19. Research Report. RR-A1121–2. *RAND***Corporation. https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RRA1100/R

 **RA1121-2/RAND_RRA1121-2.pdf
- Dolighan, T., & Owen, Michael. (2021). Teacher efficacy for online teaching during the Covid-19 pandemic. *Brock Education: A Journal of Educational Research and Practice*, 30(1), 95-116. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=school+leaders+self+efficacy+during +the+pandemic&id=EJ1289256
- Donker, M.H., Mastrotheodoros, S., & Branje, S. (2021). Development of Parent-Adolescent Relationships During the COVID-19Pandemic: The Role of Stress and Coping.

 *Developmental Psychology 57 (10), 1611. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0001212
- Dwijuliani, R., Rijanto, T., Nurlaela, L., & Basuki, I. (2021). Increasing student achievement motivation during online learning activities. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series* 1810 (1), 012072. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1810/1/012072
- Engzell, P., Frey, A., & Verhagen, M. D. (2021). Learning loss due to school closures during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118(17). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2022376118
- Ettekal, A.V., & MahoneyJ.L. (2017). The SAGE encyclopedia of out-of-school learning:

- Ecological systems theory. DOI: http://dx.doi.org.10.4135/9781483385198.94
- Francom, G.M., Lee, S.J., & Pinkney, H. (2021). Technologies, challenges, and needs of k-12 teachers in the transition to distance learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Tech Trends:Linking Research and Practice to Improve Learning*, 65(4), 589-601.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?q=K-12+students+opinion+during+the+COVID-19+pandemic&id=EJ1302865
- Frey, J. H., & Fontana, A. (1991). The group interview in social research. *The Social Science Journal*, 28(2), 175-187. doi: 10.1016/0362-3319(91)90003M
- Feller, A., & Stuart, E.A. (2021). Challenges with evaluating education policy using panel data During and after the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 14(3), 668-675. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Pandemic+policies+ effect+on+school+leadership&id=EJ1310399
- Foulger, T., Graziano, K., Schmidt-Crawford, D., & Slykhuis, D. (2017). Teacher educator technology competencies. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 25(4), 413-448. Teacher Educator Technology Competencies Learning & Technology

 <u>Library (LearnTechLib)</u>
- Gale, M. D., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2007). Educational research: An introduction. New York, NY: Allyn & Bacon.
- Garbe, A., Ogurlu, U., Logan, N., & Cook, P. (2020). COVID-19 and remote learning: Experiences of parents with children during the pandemic. *American Journal of Qualitative Research*, 4(3), 45-65. https://doi.org/10.29333/ajqr/8471
- Garcia, E., & Weiss, E. (2020). COVID-19 and student performance, equity, and U.S. education

- policy: Lessons from pre-pandemic research to inform relief, recovery, and rebuilding. https://epi.org
- Gargiulo, R.M., & Bouck, E.C. (2020). Special education in contemporary society 7th.ed: An introduction to exceptionality. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Gelir, I., & Duzen, N. (2022). Children's changing behaviours and routines, challenges and opportunities for parents during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Education*, 50 (7), 907-917. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004279.2021.1921822
- Georgia Virtual (2024). gavirtualschool.org
- Gestwicki, C. (2007). Home, school, and community relations (6th ed.). New York: Thompson
- Giannotti, M., Mazzoni, N., Bentenuto, A., Venuti, P., & de Falco, S. (2022). Family adjustment to COVID-19 lockdown in Italy: Parental stress, coparenting, and child externalizing behavior. *Family Process* 61(2), 745-763.https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12686
- Goodall, J., & Montgomery, C. (2014). Parental involvement to parental engagement:

 A continuum. *Educational Review*, 66(4), 399–410.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2013.781576
- Goodrich, J. M., Hebert, M., & Namkung, J. M. (2022). Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on elementary school teachers' practices and perceptions across the spring and fall 2020 semesters. *Frontiers in Education*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.793285
- Gottfried, A.E. (2019). Motivation: Theory, assessment, and longitudinal research. *Advances in Motivation Science*, 6, 71-109.
 - https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S221509191830021X
- Gottfried, A.E. (2023). *Intrinsic motivation and goals*. Encyclopedia of Mental Health.

- https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/B9780323914970000229
- Götz, M., Mendel, C., Lemish, D., Jennings, N., Hains, R., Abdul, F., ... Han Yee, A.Z. (2020). Children, COVID19 and the media: A study on the challenges children are facing in the 2020 coronavirus. crisis. https://izi.br.de/english/publication/televizion/33_2020_E/
 https://izi.br.de/english/publication/televizion/33_2020_E/
- Graham, S. (2020). An attributional theory of motivation. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *4*(61). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101861
- Grissom, J.A., & Condon, L. (2021). Leading schools and districts in times of crisis.

 *Educational Researcher, 50(5), 315-324. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=leading+schools+

 from+a+social+distance&id=EJ1300393
- Giusti, L., Salza, A., Del, S. & Mammarella, S., 2021. Predictors of Academic Performance during the COVID-19 Outbreak: Impact of Distance Education on Mental Health, Social Cognition and Memory Abilities in an Italian University Student Sample. BMC Psychology, 09.
 - https://bmcpsychology.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s40359-021-00649-9
- Guy-Evans, O.(2023). Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory.

 Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory Simply Psychology
- Hails, K.A., Petts, R.A., Hostutler, C.A, Simoni, M., Greene, R., Snider, T.C., & Riley, A.R.
 (2022). COVID-19 distress, negative parenting, and child behavioral problems: The moderating role of parent adverse childhood experiences. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 130,
 (1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105450
- Hall, J.A., Roman, C., Jovel-Arias, C., & Young, C. (2020). Pre-Service Teachers Examine

- Digital Equity Amidst Schools' COVID-19 Responses. *The Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 28, 435-442. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Pre-Service-Teachers-Examine-Digital-Equity-Amidst-Hall-Roman/923
- Hamilton, L.S., Kaufman, J.H., & Diliberti, M. (2020). Teaching and leading through a pandemic: Key findings from the American Educator panels spring 2020 COVID-19 surveys. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=Ed609421
- Harris, A., & Jones, M. (2020). COVID 19 school leadership in disruptive times. *School Leadership & Management*, 40(4). https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2020.1811479
- Haverback, H.G. (2020). Middle level teachers quarantine, teach, and increase self-efficacy beliefs: Using theory to build practice during COVID-19. *Middle Grades Review*, 6(1), 1-7. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=school+leaders+self+efficacy+during+the+ pandemic&id=EJ1257610
- Hayes, S. D., Flowers, J., & Williams, S. M. (2021). "Constant communication": Rural principals' leadership practices during a global pandemic. *Frontiers in Education*, 5, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2020.618067
- Heggeness, M.L., & Fields, J.M. (2020). Working moms bear the brunt of homeschooling while working during COVID-19. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2020/08/parents-juggle-work-and-child-care-during-pandemic.html
- Hernawati, D., Nandiyanto, A.B.D., & Muhammad, N. (2021). The use of learning videos in order to increase student motivation and learning outcomes during the COVID-19

 Pandemic. ASEAN Journal of Science and Engineering Education 1 (2), 77-80.

 https://ejournal.upi.edu/index.php/AJSEE/article/view/33370

- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K.H. (1982). *Management of organization behavior: Utilizing*human resources (4th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall
- Hesbol, K.A. (2019). Principal self-efficacy and learning organizations: Influencing school improvement. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 14(1), 33-51. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=self-efficacy+and+educational+leadership+&id=EJ1218932
- Hoover-Demsey, K.V., & Sandler, H.M. (1997). Why do parents become involved in their Children's education? *Review of Educational Research*, 67(1), 3-42. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543067001003
- Huck, C., & Zhang, J. (2021). Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on k-12 education: A

 Systematic literature review. *New Waves-Educational Research and Development*Journal, 42 (1), 53-84. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Students+wit+special+needs+in+digital+classrooms+during+the+Covid-19+pandemic%3 a+A+literature+Review+of+

 school+leaders%27+preparation+&id=EJ1308731
- Jackson, L. B., Ryndak, D. L., & Wehmeyer, M. L. (2008). The dynamic relationship between context, curriculum, and student learning: A case for inclusive education as a research-based practice.
- Johnson, A., Russell, D., Jacovina, M. & Soto, C. (2016). Challenges and solutions when using technologies in the classroom. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED577147.pdf
- Johnson, M.S., Skjerdingstad, N., Ebrahimi, O.V., Hoffart, A., & Johnson, S.U. (2021).

 Parenting in a Pandemic: Parental stress, anxiety and depression among parents during the government-initiated physical distancing measures following the first wave of COVID-19.

 Stress and Health. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi//full

/10.1002/smi.3120?saml_referrer

- Kavrayic, C., & Kesim, E. (2021). School management during the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative study. *Educational Administration: Theory & Practice*27(1), 1005-1060. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Principal+leadership+
 in+covid-19+pandemic&id=EJ1291002
- Kross, E., Verduyn, P., Demiralp, E., Park, J., Lee, D. S., Lin, N., Shablack, H., Jonides, J., & Ybarra, O. (2013). Facebook use predicts declines in subjective well-being in young *adults. PloS one*, 8(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069841
- Kuhfeld, M., Soland, J., Tarasawa, B., Johnson, A., Ruzek, E. A., & Liu, J. (2020). Projecting the potential impact of COVID-19 school closures on academic achievement.
 Educational Researcher, 49(8), 549–565. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x20965918
- Kwatubana, S., & Molaodi, V. (2021). Leadership styles that would enable school leaders to support the wellbeing of teachers during COVID-19.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Pandemic+Leadership&id=ED614047
- Landmann, H., & Rohmann, A. (2022). Group-specific contact and sense of connectedness during the COVID-19 pandemic and its associations with psychological well-being perceived stress, and work-life balance. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 32(3), 438-451. https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2564
- Larivière-Bastien, D., Aubuchon, O., Blondin, A., Dupont, D., Libenstein, J., Séguin, F.,...

 Beauchamp, M. H. (2022). Children's perspectives on friendships and socialization during the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative approach. *Child: care, health and development*, 48(6), 1017–1030. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12998

- Lee, J. M. (2020). Mental health effects of school closures during COVID-19. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 4(6), 421. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2352-4642(20)30109-7
- Lee, S. C., Merino-Lozano, M., Zheng, D. D., Ma, C. H. E., & Tobia, D. (2021). Pandemic-related school changes and myopia progression in children. Ophthalmology, *128*(6), 982-983.
- Lee, S. J., Ward, K. P., Chang, O. D., & Downing, K. M. (2021). Parenting activities and the transition to home-based education during the COVID-19 pandemic. Children & Youth Services Review. https://doi-org.leo.lib.unomaha.edu/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105585
- Leech, N., Gullett, S., Cummings, M. H., & Haug, C. A. (2022). The challenges of remote K–12 education during the COVID-19 pandemic: Differences by grade level.
- Lepp, L., Aaviku, T., Leijen, A., Pedaste, M., & Saks, K. (2021). Teaching during COVID-19: The decisions made in teaching. *Education Sciences*, 11(47), 1-21. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1288321.pdf
- Lessy, Z., Barokah, M., & Rohman, M. (2021). The role of socio-emotional parenting on children's studying motivation and interest during the Covid-19 pandemic in Sambas, West Kalimantan. *Al-Tadzkiyyah: Jurnal Pendidikan Islam*, 12(2), 171-192.
- Lincoln, Y. & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.
- Lehmann, J., Lechner, V., & Scheithauer, H. (2022). School closures during the COVID-pandemic: Psychosocial outcomes in children: A systematic review. *International Journal of Developmental Science*, 15(3-4), 85-111.

https://content.iospress.com/articles//international-journal-of-developmental-science/dev220322

- Kerr, M. L., Rasmussen, H. F., Fanning, K. A., & Braaten, S. M. (2021). Parenting During COVID-19: A Study of Parents' Experiences Across Gender and Income Levels. *Family relations*, 70(5), 1327–1342. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12571
- Kosman, S. (2021). *Distance learning causes a ripple of low grades*. https://scotscoop.com/distance-learning-causes-a-ripple-of-low-grades/
- Krueger, R.A., & Casey, M.A. (2014). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Madison, S. (2006). The dialogic performative in critical ethnography. *Text and Performance Quarterly*, 26(4), 320-324.
- Major, S.D., Palos, A.C., & Silva, O. (2023). Attending (or not) after-school programs during the COVID-19 pandemic: What happens to children's social skills and behavior problems?

 Child Youth Serv Rev, 149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2023.106929
- Malia, J. A. (2006). Basic concepts and models of family stress. *Stress*, *Trauma*, *and Crisis*, 9(3–4), 141–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/15434610600853717
- Martin, E. G., & Sorensen, L. C. (2020). Protecting the health of vulnerable children and adolescents during COVID-19 related K-12 school closures in the US. *JAMA Health Forum*, 1(6), e200724. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamahealthforum.2020.0724
- McAllister, L., & Graham, C. (2016). An analysis of the curriculum requirements for K-12 online teaching endorsements in the US. *Journal of Online Learning Research*, 2(3), 247–282. https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/173220/.
- Means, B., Peters, Vanessa., Neisler, J., Wiley, K., & Griffiths, R. (2021). Lessons from remote learning during covid-19. *Digital Promise*, 1-43. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Covid

-19+school+challenges&id=ED614341

- Metcalfe, L. S., & Perez, I. (2020). Blinded by the unknown: A school's leader's authentic actions to support teachers and students during COVID-19 school closures. *Journal of School Administration Research and Development*, 5(S1), 49-54. https://www.ojed.org/index.php/JSARD/article/view/2746/1222
- Mifsud, D. (2021). Schooling amid the COVID-19 pandemic? *Journal of Educational Administration & History*, *54*(4), 397-419. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00220620.2021.2017864
- Miles, D.A. & Scott, L. (2017, October 26-29). *Confessions of a Dissertation Chair Part 1: The six mistakes doctoral students make with the dissertation* [Workshop]. The 5th Annual 2017 Black Doctoral Network Conference, Atlanta, GA.

 confessionofadissertationchairpart1 (researchgate.net)
- Miles, M., & Huberman, A. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook. Sage.
- Misirli, O., & Ergulec, F. (2021). Emergency remote teaching during the COVID-19 pandemic:

 Parents experiences and perspectives. *Education & Information Technologies*, 26(6),

 6699-6718. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Parents+and+their+children-%27s+education+during+covid+19&id=EJ1316556
- Mitchell, D.R., & Karr, V. (2014). *Crises, conflict, and disability: Ensuring equality*. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.
- Morgan, D.L. (1997). Focus groups as qualitative research. Sage.
- Money, K. W., & Pacifici, L. C. (2020). Principal candidates' sense of efficacy: Can they lead During a pandemic? *Journal of School Administration Research and Development*,

- 5(1), 42–48. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1301296.pdf
- Mookan, S., 2022. The Challenges of Secondary School Administration During The Pandemic of COVID-19: An Overview of Rural Schools in Sabah, Malaysia. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 12*(05), 215-223.

 https://hrmars.com/papers_submitted/13276/the-challenges-of-secondary-school-administration-during-the-pandemic-of-covid-19-an-overview-of-rural-schools-in-sabah-malaysia.pdf
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage.
- Nagata, J.M., Abdel Magid, H.S., & Pettee Gabriel, K. (2020). Screen time for children and adolescents during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. *Obesity*, 28, 1582-1583. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22917
- Narr, R., Allen, J., Loeb, E. & Tan, J.(2019). Close friendship strength and broader peer group desirability as differential predictors of adult mental health. *Child Development*, 90(1), 298-313. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28832975/
- Nugroho, A., & Haghegh, M. (2021). Emergency remote teaching amidst global pandemic:

 Voices of Indonesian EFL teachers. *VELES* (*Voices of English Language Education Society*), *5*(1), 66–80. https://doi.org/10.29408/veles.v5i1.3258
- Olive, L.S., Sciberras, E., Berkowitz, T.S., Hoare, E., Telford, R.M., O'Neil, A., ..., Westrupp, E.M. (2022). Child and parent physical activity, sleep, and screen time during COVID-19 and associations with mental health: Implications for future psycho cardiological disease? *Front. Psychiatry*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.774858
- Ophir, Y., Rosenberg, H., Efrati, Y., & Tikochinski, R. (2022). Mothers' perceptions of

- children's screen use during the COVID-19 lockdown in Israel. *Journal of Child Family Studies*, 32, 81 92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-022-02399-7
- Orit, E., Anat, C., Alla, B., Haggit, G., & Orit, B. (2021). Equity factors during the COVID-19

 Pandemic: Difficulties in emergency remote teaching (ert) through online learning.

 Education and Information Technologies, 26, 7657-7681. https://link-springer-com.ezproxy liberty.edu/article/10.1007/s10639-021-10632-x
- Parczewska, T. (2021). Difficult situations and ways of coping with them in the experiences of parents homeschooling their children during the COVID-19 pandemic in Poland. *Education* 3-13 49 (7), 889-900. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004279.2020.1812689
- Pandya, A., & Lodha, P. (2021). Social connectedness, excessive screen time during COVID-19 and mental health: A review of current evidence. *Frontiers in Human Dynamics*,

 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fhumd.2021.684137
- Park, S., & Holloway, S. (2018). Parental involvement in adolescents' education: An examination of the interplay among school factors, parental role construction and family income. *School Community Journal*, 28(1), 9-36.

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1184925.pdf

Patton, M. (1980). Qualitative evaluation methods. Sage.

Patton, M. (1990). Qualitative evaluation and research methods. Sage.

Patton, M. (2002). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (3rd ed.). Sage.

Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research methods and evaluation methods (4th ed). Sage.

Pettoello-Mantovani, M., Pop, T.L., Mestrovic, J., Ferrara, P., Giardino, I., Carrasco-Sanz, A., & Çokuğraş, F.Ç. (2019). Fostering resilience in children: The essential role of healthcare

- professionals and families. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 205, 298 299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds2018.10.069.
- Pramlin, S.I., Wagner, J.T., & Eriksen, O.E. (2020). The coronavirus pandemic and lessons learned in preschool Norway, Sweden, and the United States: OMEP policy forum.

 *International Journal of Early Childhood, 52(2), 129-144.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?q=pandemic+policy+preparedness&id=EJ1266668
- Pollock, K. (2020). School Leaders' Work During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A two-pronged approach. International Studies in Educational Administration (Commonwealth Council for Educational Administration & Management (CCEAM), 48(3). https://www.edu.uwo.ca/faculty-profiles/docs/other/pollock/School-Leaders-Work-
- Pokhrel, S., & Chhetri, R. (2020). A literature review on the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on teaching and learning. *Higher Education for the Future*, 8(1), 133-141.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?q= school+leaders%27+level+of+preparation+for+virtual+

 learning+during+the+pandemic%3a+A+literature+Review+&pg=2&id=EJ1284760
- Posey-Maddox, L., & Haley-Lock, A. (2020). One size does not fit all: Understanding parent engagement in the contexts of work, family, and public schooling. *Urban Education*, 55(5), 671-698. https://googlescholar.com
- Pressley, T. (2021). Elementary hybrid and virtual teacher stress during COVID-19. *Journal of Research in Education*, 30(3). 97-116. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=teacher+stress+in+virtual +learning+during+covid+19+&id=EJ1325479
- Pressley, T., Ha, C., & Learn. E. (2021). Teacher and anxiety during COVID-19: An empirical study. *School Psychology*, *36*(5), 367-376. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Teachers+and+the+

pandemic+in+virtual+classrooms&pr=on&id=EJ1311247

- Presser, B.H. (1989). Can we make time for children? The economy, work schedules, and childcare: Population association of America, 1989 presidential address. *Demography*, 523-543. https://scholar.google.com
- Rasmitadila, R., Rusi, R. A., Reza, R., Achmad, S., Ernawulan. S., Muhammad, N., & Suryanti Tambunan. A.R. (2020). The perceptions of primary school teachers of online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic period: A case study in Indonesia. *Journal of Ethnic and Cultural Studies*, 7 (2), 90–109. https://www.jstor.org/stable/48710085
- Rehman, S., Smith, K.G., Poobalan, A. (2021). Parental experiences of education at home during a pandemic. *Education in the North*. https://doi.org/10.26203/frrg-xz45
- Reimers, F. (2020). What the COVID-19 pandemic will change in education depends on the thoughtfulness of education responses today. *Worlds of Education*.

 https://www.ei-ie.org/en/item/23302:what-the-covid-19-pandemic-will-change-in-education
- Ribeiro, L.M., Cunhan, R.S., Silva, M.A., Carlvalho, M., & Vital, M.L. (2021). Parental Involvement during pandemic times: Challenges and opportunities. *Education Services*, 11, 302-319. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Pandemic+implication+for+higher +education&id=EJ1300686
- Robertson, F., 2021. Parenting In The Pandemic: Why The Struggle Is Real For Black Mothers.

 https://www.essence.com/lifestyle/black-mothers-childcare-covid/
- Ross, P. T., & Bibler Zaidi, N. L. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on medical education*, 8(4), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x

- Rousoulioti, T., Tsagari, D., & Giannikas, C. N. (2022). Parents' new role and needs during the COVID-19 educational emergency. *Interchange (Toronto, Ont.: 1984), 53*(3-4), 429–455. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10780-022-09464-6
- Roy, M., & Giraldo-Garcia, R. (2018). The Role of Parental Involvement and Social/Emotional Skills in Academic Achievement: Global Perspectives: *School Community Journals*28 (2), 29-48. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=The+role+of+parental+involvement+ and+social %2femotional+ skills+in+academic+achievement&id=EJ1201955
- Rubin, H., & Rubin, I. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Rubilar, N. V. & Oros, L., 2021. Stress and Burnout in Teachers During Times of Pandemic.

 Front.Psychol., 12(01).

 https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.756007/full
- Rundle, A. G., Park, Y., Herbstman, J. B., Kinsey, E. W., & Wang, Y. C. (2020). COVID-19 related school closings and risk of weight gain among children. Obesity, 28(6), 1008-1009. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7440663/
- Rush, S. C., Wheeler, J., & Partridge, A. (2014). Emergency online schools as a means of providing schooling and crisis support after school closings due to catastrophic disasters.
 International Journal of Emergency Management, 10(3/4), 241–258.
 https://doi.org/10.1504/IJEM.2014.066481
- Rymanowicz, K., & Schulz, J. (2014). The importance of family engagement.

 https://www.canr.msu.edu/news/the-importance-of-family-engagement
- Safrizal., Yulia, R., & Suryana, D. (2021). Difficulties of implementing online learning in

- kindergarten during pandemic: Teacher's perspective review. *Jurnal Pendidikan dan Pengajaran*, 54(3), 406-414. https://dx.doi.org/1023887/jpp.v54i2.37264
- Saldaña, J. (2013). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Salavera, C., Usán, P., & Quilez-Robres, A. (2022). Exploring the Effect of Parental Styles on Social Skills: The Mediating Role of Affects. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(6), 3295. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063295
- Sapungan, G.M., & Sapungan, R.M. (2014). Parental Involvement in Child's Education:

 Importance, barriers, and benefits. Asian Journal of Management Sciences & Education,

 3(2), 42-48. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Ronel-gapungan/publication/283539737_Parental_Involvement_in_Child's_Education_Importa_nce_Barriers_and_Benefits/links/
- Sari, D.K., & Maningtyas, R.T. (2020). Parents involvement in learning during COVID-19 pandemic. https://10.2991.assehr.k.201112.018
- Schafer, E.C., Dunn, A., & Lavi, A. (2021). Educational challenges for students who have hearing Loss. *Language, Speech, & Hearing Services in Schools, 52*(3), 889-898.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?q=the+voices+of+students+with+disabilities+during+
 the+pandemic&pg=2&id=EJ1307263
- Schunk, D.H., & DiBenedetto, M.K. (2020). Motivation and social cognitive theory.

 Contemporary Educational Psychology, 1(60).

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2019.101832
- Seguin, D., Kuenzel, E., Morton, J.B., & Duerden, E.D. (2021). School's out: Parenting stress and screen time use in school-age children during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of*

- Affective Disorders Reports, 6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100217
- Shamir-Inbal, T., & Blau, I. (2021). Facilitating emergency remote K-12 teaching in computing-enhanced virtual learning environments during COVID-19 Pandemic blessing or curse?

 Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 59(7), 1243–1271.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633121992781
- Sintema, E. J. (2020). Effect of COVID-19 on the Performance of Grade 12 Students: Implications for STEM education. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Education*, *16*(7), em1851. https://doi.org/10.29333/ejmste/7893
- Skjerdingstad, N., Johnson, M.S., Johnson, S.U., Hoffart, A., & Ebrahim, O.V. (2021). Parental burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Family Process*.

 https://doi.ord/10.1111/famp.12740
- Smith, C. (2020). Challenges and opportunities for teaching students with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary perspectives in Higher Education*, 5(1), 167-173. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=pandemic+challenges&id=EJ1272947
- Smith, M. (2022). Enacting parental engagement: Policy work in a primary school setting. *New Zealand Journal of Educational Studies*, *57*(1). 102-123

 https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Parental+engagement&id=EJ1340179
- Sonnenschein, S., Grossman, E.R., & Grossman, J.A. (2021). U.S. Parents'

 Reports of Assisting Their Children with Distance Learning during COVID-19.

 Education Sciences 11(9), 501. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11090501
- So, K. K., & Swatman, P. M. (2006). e-Learning Readiness in the Classroom: Hong Kong primary teachers. University of South Australia.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/279640607_Assessing_e-Learning_Readiness_ of_Teachers_and_Schools_in_Hong_Kong

Stake, R. (1995). The art of case study research. Sage.

- Speidel, R., Wong, T.K.Y., Al-Janaideh, R. *et al.* Nurturing child social-emotional development: evaluation of a pre-post and 2-month follow-up uncontrolled pilot training for caregivers and educators. *Pilot Feasibility Stud.*, *9*(148). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-023-01357-4
- Spitzer, M. W. H., & Musslick, S. (2021). Academic performance of K-12 students in an online-learning environment for mathematics increased during the shutdown of schools in wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(8), e0255629. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0255629
- Spring, J.K. (2018). Academic communities of engagement and their influence on student Engagement [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/
 Etd/7462
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. M. (1997). Grounded theory in practice. Sage.
- Sultana, A., Tasnim, S., Hossain, M.M., Bhattacharya, S., & Purohit, N. (2021). Digital screen time during the COVID-19 pandemic: A public health concern. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.50880.1
- Sun, S., 2022. For young black and single mothers during COVID, employment does not equal security.

https://iwpr.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Young-Mothers-Survey-Brief_FINAL.pdf
Susilowati, E., & Azzasyofia, M. (2020). The parents stress level in facing children study

- from home in the early of COVID-19 pandemic in Indonesia. *International journal of science and society*, 2 (3), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.54783/ijsoc.v2i3.117
- Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Sammons, P., Siraj-Blatchford, I., Taggart, B., & Elliot, K. (2003).

 The Effective Provision of Pre-school Education (EPPE) Project: Findings from the preschool period. Institute of Education, University of London.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/43982078_Towards_the_Transformation_of_Practice_in_Early_Childhood_Education_The_Effective_Provision_of_Pre-school_Education_EPPE_project
- Tas, Y., Eminoglu S., Atila., G., Yildiz, Y., & Bozkurt, U. (2021). Teachers' self-efficacy beliefs and opinions about distance education during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 22(4). 229-253. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=school+leaders+self+efficacy+during+the+
 pandemic&id=EJ1317140
- Taylor, R.D., & Gebre, A. (2016). Teacher-student relationships and personalized learning:

 Implications of person and contextual variables. www.centeril.org
- Trust, T. & Whalen, J. (2020). Should teachers be trained in emergency remote teaching? Lessons learned from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Technology & Teacher Education*, 28(2), 189-199. https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/215995/
- Twenge, J. M., Martin, G. N., & Campbell, W. K. (2018). Decreases in psychological well-being among American adolescents after 2012 and links to screen time during the rise of smartphone technology. *Emotion*, 18(6), 765–780. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000403

- Twenge, J. M., Cooper, A. B., Joiner, T. E., Duffy, M. E., & Binau, S. G. (2019). Age, period, and cohort trends in mood disorder indicators and suicide-related outcomes in a nationally representative dataset, 2005–2017. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 128(3), 185–199. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000410
- U.S. Census Bureau. (n.d.). *Clayton, Henry, & Fayette counties population data*. https://census.gov/clayton,henry,&fayettecountiespopulationdata
- Valaroso, M.B., Idulog, M.V., & Baslan, C.J. (2022). Pandemic era: The role of parents at home in the occurrence of modular distance learning. *International Journal of Arts, Sciences and Education*, *3*(7), 99-115. VALPET-4 (philarchive.org)
- Varela, D.G., & Fedynich, L. (2020). Leading schools from a social distance: Surveying South

 Texas school district leadership during the covid-19 pandemic. *National Forum of*Educational Administration and Supervision Journal, 38(4), 1-10.

 http://www.nationalforum.com/Electronic%20Journal%20Volumes/Varela,%20daniella%20Surveying%20South%20Texas%20School%20District%20Leadership%20NFEASJ%20V38%20N4%202020.pdf
- Vandewater, E.A., Rideout, V.J., Wartella, E.A., Huang, X., Lee, J.H., Shim, H. (2007). Digital childhood: Electronic media and technology use among infants, toddlers, and preschoolers. *Pediatrics* 119(5). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2006-1804
- van Manen, M. (1990a). Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy. Routledge.
- van Manen, M. (2014b). Phenomenology of practice: meaning-giving methods in phenomenological research and writing. Routledge.

- van Manen, M. (2016c). Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy. Routledge.
- Wamser-Nanney, R., Nguyen-Feng, V., Lotzin, A., & Zhou, X. (2021). Parenting amidst COVID-19: Pandemic-related stressors, inequities, and treatment utilization and perceptions. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice*.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/cfp0000189
- Watts, R., Pattnaik, J. (2022). Perspectives of parents and teachers on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children's socio-emotional well-being. Early Childhood Education Journal. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-022-01405-3
- Wright, B., Cross, B., Ford, D. & Tyson, C.(2022). When I think of home: Black families supporting their children during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Education and Urban Society*, 55(5), 515-532. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/00131245211065415
- Xiao, S., Yan, Z., & Zhao, L. (2021). Physical Activity Screen Time, and Mood Disturbance

 Among Chinese Adolescents During COVID-19. *J. Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv*2021; 59: 14 20 https://doi.org/103928/02793695-20201104-04PMD33180950
- Xue, B., & McMunn, A. (2021). Gender differences in unpaid care work and psychological distress in the UK COVID-19 lockdown. *Plos Ond(16)3*.
 https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0247959
- Yazcayir, G., & Gurgur, H. (2021). Students with special needs in digital classrooms during the Covid-19 pandemic in Turkey. *Pedagogical Research*, 6(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.29333/pr/9356
- Yildiz, S., Kilic, G.N. & Acar, I.H. (2022). Early childhood education during the COVID-19

- outbreak: The perceived changing roles of preschool administrators, teachers, and parents. *Early Childhood Education Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-022-01339-w
- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and method (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and method (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zaccoletti, S., Camacho, A., Correia, N., Aguiar, C., Mason, L., Alves, RA., & Daniel, JR.
 (2020). Parents' Perceptions of Student Academic Motivation During the COVID-19
 Lockdown:A Cross-Country Comparison. Frontiers in psychology, 11.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.592670
- Zhu, X., & Liu, J. (2020). Education in and after COVID-19: Immediate responses and long-term visions. *Postdigital Science & Education*, 2(3), 695-699. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-020-00126-3
- Zohiro, Z., Taqwa, R., Wadham, B., Mansir, F., Idi, A., & Syarnubi, S. (2022). Role and constraints of people old in accompany child study during the pandemic COVID 19. *Tadrib*, 8(2), 126-142. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.19109/tadrib.v8i2.11527
- Zuo, M., Ma, Y., Hu, Y., & Luo, H. (2021). K-12 Students' online learning experiences during COVID-19: Lessons from China. Frontiers of Education in China, 16(1), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11516-021-0001-8

Appendix A

Liberty University IRB Approval

April 8, 2024

Gladys Odewilliams Heather Strafaccia

Re: IRB Exemption - IRB-FY23-24-422 EXPLORING THE POST-COVID LIVE EXPERIENCES OF PARENTS OF MIDDLE SCHOOL CHILDREN WHO CONTINUED LEARNING IN ONLINE MODALITY: A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY

Dear Gladys Odewilliams, Heather Strafaccia,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application per the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data-safeguarding methods described in your IRB application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(ii). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording) if at least one of the following criteria is met:

Any disclosure of the human subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, educational advancement, or reputation; or

For a PDF of your exemption letter, click on your study number in the My Studies card on your Cayuse dashboard. Next, click the Submissions bar beside the Study Details bar on the Study Details page. Finally, click Initial under Submission Type and choose the Letters tab toward the bottom of the Submission Details page. Your information sheet and final versions of your study documents, **which you must use to conduct your study**, can also be found on the same page under the Attachments tab.

This exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us at irb@liberty.edu.

Sincerely,
G. Michele Baker, PhD, CIP
Administrative Chair
Research Ethics Office

Appendix B

Consent

Title of the Project: Exploring the Post-Covid Live Experiences of Parents of Middle School Children Who Continued Learning in Online Modality: A Phenomenological Study

Principal Investigator: Gladys Ode Williams, Doctoral Candidate School of Education, Liberty University.

Invitation to be Part of a Research Study: You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate, you must be 18 years of age or older and be a working parent who has a child learning online after in-class learning resumed. Taking part in this research project is voluntary. Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research.

What is the study about and why is it being done?

The purpose of the study is to understand the post-COVID-19 online learning experiences for working parents of middle school children.

What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following:

- 1. Take part in a one-on-one audio-recorded Zoom interview and take part in a Zoom video-recorded focus group interview. It should take approximately 1.5 hours to complete the procedures listed.
- 2. Verify the accuracy of the transcript of the interview, which will take about 15 minutes to complete.

How could you or others benefit from this study?

Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from taking part in this study. Benefits to society may include exposing deficiencies in parental engagement in their children's education and the effectiveness of the relationship between the home and school in improving student engagement in the post-COVID-19 era. The findings from this study can significantly affect decision-making for parents who may still be considering moving their children to virtual school. The results could help schools offering post-pandemic remote education to learn and improve on providing better remote learning experiences for parents and students, especially if the challenges that those parents had during the pandemic have been resolved or addressed by both parents and their children's school. Furthermore, findings from this study could enlighten school leaders and education policymakers on the challenges that persist for parents of online school children after the pandemic and some of the barriers that might be preventing working parents from fully engaging in their children's online education. The insights gleaned from this study could lead to better understanding, communication, and more support for working parents to help them better assist in driving their children's engagement and academic achievement in online learning modality.

What risks might you experience from being in this study?

The expected risks from participating in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life.

How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records.

- Participant responses will be kept confidential by replacing names with pseudonyms.
- Interviews will be conducted in a location where others will not easily overhear the conversation.
- Confidentiality cannot be guaranteed in focus group settings. While discouraged, other
 members of the focus group may share what was discussed with people outside of the
 group.
- Data will be stored on a password-locked computer and in a locked drawer. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted, and all hardcopy records will be shredded.
- Recordings will be stored on a password-locked computer until participants have reviewed and confirmed the accuracy of the transcripts and then deleted. The researcher will have access to these recordings.

How will you be compensated for being part of the study?

Participants will be compensated for participating in this study. At the conclusion of the one-on-one interview and focus group interview, each participant will receive a \$50 Visa gift card by mail or electronically based on each participant's preferred delivery method. Email or the mailing address of each participant will be requested for compensation purposes; however, they will be collected by email at the conclusion of the focus group interview to maintain your confidentiality.

Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty University. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address/phone number included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you, apart from focus group data, will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study. Focus group data will not be destroyed, but your contributions to the focus group will not be included in the study if you choose to withdraw.

Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?

The researcher conducting this study is Gladys Ode Williams. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, **you are encouraged** to contact her at godewilliams@liberty.edu

Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, **you are encouraged** to contact the IRB. Our physical address is Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA, 24515; our phone number is 434-592-5530, and our email address is <u>irb@liberty.edu</u>.

Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.

Your Consent

By signing this document, you are agreeing to be in this study. Make sure you understand what
the study is about before you sign. You will be given a copy of this document for your records.
The researcher will keep a copy with the study records. If you have any questions about the study
after you sign this document, you can contact the study team using the information provided
above.
I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received
answers. I consent to participate in the study.
☐ The researcher has my permission to audio-record/video-record me as part of my
participation in this study.
Printed Subject Name

Signature & Date

Appendix C

Recruitment Social Media Post

ATTENTION VIRTUAL SCHOOL PARENTS: I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a Doctor of Education at Liberty University. The purpose of my research is to understand the post-COVID-19 online learning experiences for working parents of middle school children. To participate, you must be 18 years of age or older and be a working parent who has a child learning online after in-class learning resumed. Participants who meet the criteria will take part in a one-on-one audio-recorded Zoom interview and take part in a Zoom video-recorded focus group interview. It should take approximately 1.5 hours to complete the procedures listed. The transcript of the interview will be provided to you to verify the accuracy of the information obtained during the interview, which will take about 15 minutes to complete. If you would like to participate and meet the study criteria, please provide your information so that I can contact you to schedule an interview. A consent document will be emailed to you one week before the interview and you will need to sign and return it at the time of the interview. Participants will be given a \$50 Visa gift card as compensation.

Appendix D

Screening Questions for Research Participants

- 1. Do you work part-time or full-time in an in-person, hybrid, or fully remote capacity?
- 2. Do you live in an urban area in the Southeastern United States?
- 3. Are you a parent of one or more middle school-aged children?
- 4. Was your child learning in-person, moved to online learning during the pandemic, and has continued learning virtually after the pandemic despite the resumption of in-class learning?
- 5. What is your gender?
- 6. Which category best describes your age in years? (a) Under 18 years (b) 18-24 years (c) 25-34 years (d) 35-44 years (e) 45-54 years (f) 55-64 years (g) 65 years or older
- 7. What is your race? (a) White/Caucasian (b) Black/African American (c) Hispanic/Latino (d) Asian/Asian American (e) American Indian/ Alaskan Native (f) Native Hawaiian/ Other Pacific Islander (g) Another Race (h) Prefer Not to Answer

Appendix E

Individual Interview Questions

Table 3

Individual Interview Questions

- 1. Please describe your experiences as a working parent of a middle school child in a remote learning environment from the first year to the current year. CRQ
- 2. In what ways do you support your remote learning child's needs outside of the classroom requirements? SQ1
- 3. As a working parent, what do you do to ensure that your child is learning the school subject concepts? SQ1
- 4. What communication approaches do you use with your remote learning child to explore their educational experience? SQ1
- Describe how the school initiates communication regarding your child's academic progress. SQ2
- Describe the type of communication you utilize in connecting with your child's school.
 SQ2
- 7. What resources does your child use to be successful in the remote learning classroom?
 SQ2
- 8. What social resources does the school provide to your remote learning family? SQ3
- What challenges do you experience in providing social outlets for your remote learning child? SQ3

- 10. Describe the opportunities your child receives in co-curricular activities as a remote learner, such as physical education, art, media center, and music. SQ3
- 11. What ways does your extended family support your decision to continue remote learning?
 SQ4
- 12. Describe how your family's attitude toward remote learning has changed over time. SQ4
- 13. Describe your extended family's involvement in your remote learning child's experience.
 SQ4
- 14. What else would you like to add to our conversation today about remote learning that we have not already discussed? CRQ

Appendix F

Focus Group Interview Questions

Table 4

Focus Group Questions

- 1. What is the most challenging part of supporting your remote learner? SQ1
- 2. What do you value most about the remote learning modality? SQ1
- 3. What is the school's most helpful resource to support your remote learner? SQ2
- 4. Describe the cadence of communication that has been the most helpful in supporting the remote learning process. SQ2
- 5. What is the most effective social program the school has provided to support your child's remote learning? SQ3
- 6. What are two recommendations you would give to improve the remote learning experience? SQ3
- 7. What has been the most helpful support for your remote learner that you have received from extended family members? SQ4
- 8. What are the most significant challenges you have receiving support from family as a working parent of a remote learner? SQ4
- 9. What else would you like to add to our conversation today about remote learning that we have not already discussed? CRQ

Appendix G

Document Analysis Form

Table 5 Document Analysis Form

Date	
Participant	
Document Type	
Key Words	